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TECHNOLOGIES

We are putting proprietary emerging
technologies "InPlay". Our portfolio
includes the FinePoint digital pen
computing products primarily for
tablet PCs and our internally
developed Duraswitch electronic
switch technologies that can be used
for the user controls across a broad
array of applications.
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Dear Stockholders:

At this time last year, we outlined our strategy to leverage our corporate infrastructure and expand our
sources of revenue by commercializing additional, innovative emerging technologies. We outlined our proposal to
change our corporate name to InPlay Technologies to better align the company with this objective. At our annual
meeting last year, stockholders approved the name change and we officially became InPlay Technologies.

The Duraswitch Technology licensing model continues and the brand is still associated with our internally
developed and patented switch technologies. We support the engineering and marketing activities of our worldwide
network of switch manufacturer licensees who market and manufacture switch controls using our technologies.

We made great progress on our growth strategy during the year. In September 2005, we acquired
FinePoint Innovations, a developer of patented digital computing pen solutions currently used primarily for tablet
PCs. '

This acquisition is a nice fit for us for several reasons. FinePoint has developed an innovative technology in
an emerging market. The timing is right as hardware and software capabilities in the computer industry converge.
FinePoint also achieved initial commercial acceptance with a significant order from a major computer OEM. inPlay
adds value through our corporate infrastructure including accounting, IT, public relations and a management team
and Board of Directors with a diverse portfolio of knowledge. Additional value includes our NASDAQ-listed
company exposure to the worldwide marketplace, as well as immediate financial resources to execute FinePoint’s
business model.

We completed the year with FinePoint consolidated into our operations. Our FinePoint division won
significant additional purchase orders from the first major OEM as well as orders from several other makers of
specialized tablet PCs following the acquisition.

With all of the changes we have experienced during 2005, our focus and commitment has not wavered. We
remain committed to enhancing stockholder value. We will support our Duraswitch Technology licensees as they
focus on designing our technology into various applications. Our FinePoint focus is on building our market share in
the pen computing industry with additional computer OEM customers using our digital computing pen solution. We
will continue to evaluate additional innovative emerging technology opportunities as they arise.

On behalf of the entire InPlay team, including thé Duraswitch and FinePoint divisions, we appreciate your
interest and support in our company. We look forward to the opportunities that we have ahead — both those that are
already in play and the apportunities that unfold in the future. '

Sincerely,

Sk (S

Bob Brilon
Chief Executive Officer
March 2006
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Statements Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The statements contained in this report on Form 10-KSB that are not purely historical are forward-
looking statements within the meaning of applicable securities laws.. Forward-looking statements include
statements regarding our “expectations,’’ “anticipations,” “intentions, “‘beliefs,” or “strategies” regarding the
Sfuture. -Forward-looking statements also include statements regarding revenue, margins, and expenses for
fiscal year 2006 and thereafter; statements regarding our licensees’ and customers’ ability to successfully
market and manufacture products using our technologies; the potential for our patented technologies in key
markets; our estimation of potential revenue from and timing of production using our technologies, our ability
fo successfully execute on our corporate goal of leveraging our business model with additional technologies;
our ability to protect our intellectual property, and liquidity and anticipated cash needs and availability. All
forward-looking statemients included in this report are based on information available to us as of the filing
date of this repérl and we assume no liability to update any siuch forward-looking statements. Our actual
resulis could differ materlally from the forward-looking statements. Among the factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially are the factors discussed in Item IA, “Risk Factors.”




PART I

Item 1. Description of Business
Overview

We develop patented, enabling technologies to market, sell and/or license. Our current technologies
include the Duraswitch® electronic pushbutton, rotary and omni-directional switch technologies, and the
FinePoint MagicPoint® computing pen technology.

We maintain our executive offices at 234 South Extension Road, Suite 103, Mesa, Arizona 85210, and
our telephone number is (480) 586-3300. Through our website at www.inplaytechnologies.com, we make
available free of charge our annual report on Form 10-KSB, our quarterly reports on Form 10-QSB, our
current reports on Form 8-K, our proxy statements, and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”). These reports are available as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file those reports
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). We also post on our website: the charters of our
Audit, Compensation, and Nominations and Corporate Governance Committees; our Code of Conduct and
Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer and senior financial officers, and any amendments or waivers
thereto; and any other corporate governance materials contemplated by SEC or NASDAQ regulations. These
documents are also available in print to any stockholders requesting a copy from our corporate secretary at our
principal executive offices.

I

Strategy

- Our goal is to grow our revenues and profitability as a competitive marketer and licensor of proprietary
emerging technologies that enable unique design and functionality solutions for relevant industries. In order to
achieve this objective, we intend to aggressively promote the advantages of our current technologies to
increase market awareness and attract additional licensees and customers. We expect to expand our portfolio
of patented technologies through acquisitions or licensés from inventors or assignees as it makes economic
sense.

Our model requires proprietary technologies to succeed. Qur first technology was our Duraswitch
electronic switch technology that was developed internally and then licensed to-switch manufacturers and
original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs. Our licensing model employs a network of manufacturers,
vendors, and technology alliances that sell to and manufacture products for OEMs. In some instances, we
expect that some OEMs may also license technology directly for in-house production or for their suppliers.
We believe this strategy provides an avenue to commerc1ahze additional technologies and open new mutually
beneficial relationships.

We acquired FinePoint Innovations, Inc., a developer of digital computing pen technology, in September
2005. FinePoint has achieved initial commercial acceptance with purchase orders from a major computer
OEM as well as several smaller customers. FinePoint’s computing pen and digitizer are produced through
contract manufacturers, then provided to the original design manufacturer, or ODM, or OEM customer for
integration into the final product. We have developed digital pen technology, offering a significant advance-
ment in performance over current analog products at a competitive cost. We believe that we can expand our
market share by offering this new digital solution.

Duraswitch Electronic Switch Technologies

We have developed, patented, and licensed innovative technologies utilizing a magnetic-based design for
electronic switches. These technologies include pushbutton, rotary dials, and mouse/cursor/omni-directional
controls that can be used in a wide range of applications. We believe our patented technologies provide
innovative solutions to the electronic switch design ¢hallenges faced by OEMs, product designers, and
component suppliers. '

We license to switch manufacturers and OEMs' the right to produce and sell products using our
technologies. We form strategic partnerships with suppliers of complementary products to further market
awareness of our technologies and provide material sourcing for our licensees. By partnering with established
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manufacturers, we are expanding the use of our technologies by leveraging our licensees’ manufacturing
capabilities and customer relationships. Our goal is to expand our licensee base and the number of applications
using our technologies.

Electronic Switch Industry Analysis. Electronic switches and Integrated Control Panels (“ICPs™), are
used in a wide variety of consumer, industrial, and agricultural products, such as appliances, military
equipment, airplanes, automobiles, security systems, temperature controls, point-of-sale systems, elevators,
medical equipment, computers, gas pumps, beverage dispensers, gaming units, fitness equipment, consumer
electronics, and commercial food preparation equipment.

History of Electronic Switches. In the last hundred years, two basic switches have dominated the
market: electro-mechanical and membrane. In its simplest form, an electronic switch controls the flow of
electric current: press the switch to complete the circuit and the current flows to operate a microprocessor,
which, in turn, performs the desired function. Electro-mechanical switches operate by pushing, turning, or
sliding a button, knob, or lever to mechanically activate a series of movable parts that will close or complete a
circuit within the switch itself. Although they offer excellent tactile feedback for the user, electro-mechanical
switches are bulky and mechanically complex, and can be difficult to integrate into certain ICPs.

Membrane switches consist of multiple, thin-film layers topped by an overlay with printed graphics or
instructions to operate the device in which the switch is incorporated. A typical example of a membrane
switch is found on most microwave oven control panels. Without tactile feedback, users may activate the
switch multiple times, which could cause the opposite effect of what the user intended. To solve the feedback
response problem, membrane switch manufacturers typically have offered a “beep” sound, light, or status icon
on a display to inform the user when the switch has been activated. However, this solution increases the cost,
complexity, and size of the product to which it is added, thus decreasing the advantages of a membrane switch
over an electro-mechanical switch. "

The second option to overcome the feedback response problem is to incorporate a metal, rubber, or
plastic dome as part of the membrane switch. When pressed by a user, the center of the dome will invert and
contact the circuit on the membrane layer beneath it. Domed membrane switches are prone to failure due to
material fatigue, are much less reliable than membrane switches without domes, and require inconsistent
amounts of force to be activated. These limitations have frustrated users and increased the cost and design
complexity, while decreasing the reliability, of the switch.

Duraswitch Electronic Switch Competitive Advantages

The keys to our technologies are simplicity of design and reliance on magnetic force, rather than
mechanical parts or the elastic properties of materials, to operate a switch. Based on our experience and
available research in the electronic switch and ICP industries, we believe our technologies offer several
competitive advantages compared to switches and ICPs using traditional electro-mechanical or membrane
switch technologies, including the following:

Significantly Greater Durability and Reliability. Our technologies rely on a magnetic-based design with
few moving parts and virtually no risk of stress, fatigue, or potential breaking points. By eliminating or
reducing the mechanical complexity and precision required by traditional technologies, we believe switches
made with our technologies are significantly more durable and reliable than traditional electro-mechanical and
membrane switches. From January 1998 to January 2001, we tested one of our PushGate® pushbutton
switches. It exceeded 500 million activations on an electronic counter. Additionally, multiple samples of new
PushGate switch designs routinely successfully complete durability tests of between three and 50 million
activations. We believe these test results support our belief in the reliability and durability of products
manufactured using our PushGate technologies.

Inherent Feedback Response. Membrane switches and some electro-mechanical switches require
additional cues such as beeps, lights, or status icons to artificially provide feedback to the user, which increases
the complexity and total cost of the switch. Our PushGate design consistently produces a distinctive “click”
each time the user activates our switch and eliminates the costs associated with additional cues.

Ease of Integration in Slim Profile, Environmentally Sealed Design. Because switches produced using
our technologies use a thin, multiple layer design that incorporates a flexible circuit rather than bulky
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mechanical parts, they are easily integrated into flat.panel/slim profile products currently desired by the
market. This design also eliminates the need to breach the surface of the ICP, enabling our ICPs to be easily
sealed, cleaned, disinfected, and protected from harsh environmental conditions.

Value Engineering Alternative. We believe switches produced using our technologies offer a better
overall value compared to switches using traditional technologies. The integration attributes of our technolo-
gies allow for a complete value engineering alternative to switch panel designs, which can allow for cost
reductions in various components and manufacturing processes. In addition, devices using our switches are
more durable and reliable than electro-mechanical switches and are therefore less costly to maintain.

Increased Design Capabilities. Our technologies inherently enable various designs that are not easily
achieved with traditional technologies. For example, our PushGate pushbutton switch can be designed for
large or odd shaped buttons using one actuator, to withstand high impact, extreme temperature and altitude,
and for dual output and normally closed designs. '

Duraswitch Electronic Switch Technology Strategies

Maintain and Further Our Patented Technologies’ Competitive Advantages. We intend to maintain and
further our patented technologies’ competitive advantages in order to make our technologies standard in the
industry. We intend to pursue this strategy by aggressively marketing our technologies’ advantages and
broaden market awareness within our target industries. We are focusing our sales and marketing efforts on our
licensing program and will work together with licensees and technology partners to develop further these
technologies for specific commercial applications as it makes economic sense.

Increase Market Awareness of Our Patented Technological Advantages. We plan to aggressively
promote our patented technologies and design expertise to achieve widespread market awareness of our
technologies’ advantages. Our promotional efforts will target design engineers and purchasing managers,
whom we believe are the primary decision makers within the switch-purchasing market. These efforts will
include increasing exposure in trade magazines, increasing traffic to our website, participating actively in
vendor-sponsored seminars for design engineers, and aggressively promoting our technologies in the trade
media. We believe that promboting our success and our licensees’ successes in providing custom-designed
solutions for a number of high-profile companies will further enhance market awareness of our technologies
and their unique competitive advantages.

License Switch Manufacturers and OEMs. We blan to continue to offer to license our technologies to
switch manufacturers, turnkey manufacturers, and OEMs as a product extension and a market differentiation.
We intend to target manufacturers in countries where we currently have little or no representation, as well as
manufacturers and OEMs who directly manufacture for, or have key customers in, our target markets. When
targeting OEMs, we offer to'license directly, license preferred manufacturers, or provide information on
currently licensed manufacturers. We believe this flexible approach and the simplified requirement of our
license agreements, whereby a non-exclusive licensee pays us per-switch royalties for use of our technologies,
reduces barriers common to traditional licensing models that often require significant up-front fees to gain
access and charge royalties on a percentage-of-sales basis.

Provide Training, Design Engineering, and Marketing Support. We plan to provide engineering and
sales training at our licensees’ facilities, quarterly sales training in various locations across North America and
Europe as well as webcast training on engineering updates and sales strategies for our technologies. We believe
we add value to our licensees’ efforts by offering design reviews for new projects and by offering direct access
to online design manuals. We will continue to expand our lead generation efforts to drive potential business to
our licensees through e-mail and direct marketing campaigns. We plan to continue to enhance communica-
tions of our technology updates and sales techniques in order to support our licensees.

Target Key Industries with Potential for High-Volume Applications. We intend to continue to market
the advantages of our patented technologies to key high-volume markets, including appliance, medical, and
industrial controls. We believe that we have developed the technologies that meet the needs of these industries
and can educate OEMs on the benefits of utilizing our technologies in future designs. In marketing directly to
OEMs, we plan to be a source for design ideas by edlicating engineers on the benefits our technologies offer.
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We promote the solutions our technologies have provided for similar industries. We will also support our
licensees’ sales efforts through sales calls and engineering support.

Duraswitch Electronic Switch Technologies

We have a number of switch applications based on our patented magnetic-based technologies. We have
licensed the PushGate®, thiNcoder® and MagnaMouse™ to our licensees. Our non-exclusive licensees
typically pay royalties of $0.08 per PushGate ($0.10 including the licensed component charge), between $0.25
and $0.75 per thiNcoder, and between $0.25 and $0.75 per MagnaMouse, depending on volume. Licensees are
charged separately for any licensed components they purchase from us. Current prices for licensed
components range from $0.02 per PushGate to $1.75 per thiNcoder subassembly. Fees for additional
technologies will be determined upon release.

The Duraswitch PushGate®. A flat panel Duraswitch PushGate switch consists of up to five bonded
micro-thin layers of material, which collectively measure less than 1/10th of an inch. The top layer of the
switch is printed with a graphical overlay that indicates which buttons must be pressed to activate a desired
function, such as the “on,” “defrost,” and “cook” buttons on a microwave oven. Below the top layer is a thin,
flexible layer of permanent magnetic material. Below the magnetic layer is spacer material containing a hole
through which a patented metal disc is pushed. The disc has a small, raised, off-center button that is pushed
by the user through the surface of the switch. A flexible circuit or printed circuit board is located at the bottom
of the switch. When the button is pressed, the disc separates from the magnet and the underside of the disc
completes the circuit by touching the contacts located on the printed circuit. When the button is released, the
magnet pulls the disc away from the switch contacts into its resting position, and the circuit is broken. This
magnetic-based design produces a consistent tactile feedback response to the user each time the switch is
activated.

The PushGate can be designed, as described above, in a flat panel construction using a graphical overlay,
or used as switching mechanism under a custom keycap or housing.

We have introduced a number of enhancements to our core PushGate technology including:

» PushGate Island construction which reduces the number of material layers and allows for the switching
element of the PushGate to be fabricated as a freestanding subassembly that can be easily inserted into
a foam layer, thereby simplifying the manufacturing process and reduces cost;

+ Unique constructions that provide distinct advantages in certain applications including the Large-Key
PushGate, High-Impact PushGate, Tact Switch, Extreme Temperature/ Altitude PushGate, Peel-and-
Place PushGate, and Normally Closed-Normally Open design incorporating PushGate technology.

The Duraswitch thiNcoder®. The Duraswitch thiNcoder resembles a typical volume control knob on a
car radio or a selector knob on a washing machine, except that unlike an electro-mechanical rotary switch, our
switch is integrated on a flex-circuit. The entire assembly can be less than 1/10th of an inch thick below the
overlay. The Duraswitch thiNcoder consists of a rotary knob containing embedded magnets all fastened to a
flat surface. The top of the surface displays instructions for the user. The bottom of the surface seals a circular
space below the magnet containing small gold-plated balls. Between the magnets and the gold-plated balls are
printed electronic circuits, which are activated through contact with the gold-plated balls. When the user turns
the knob, the magnet within the rotary knob causes the gold-plated balls to rotate within their circular space.
As the balls roll across the flex-circuit membrane, they close or open the circuit and convey the user’s
instructions to the device. The design of the Duraswitch thiNcoder also allows for a tactile feedback response
to the user, such that the user can feel each “click” as the knob is turned. The thiNcoder has been used for
medical devices, agricultural equipment, and industrial controls. The thiNcoder can also be designed as a 5-bit
encoder for applications that require a large number of selector positions such as an appliance.

The Duraswitch MagnaMouse'™. The Duraswitch MagnaMouse is an omni-directional switch that
works by using a disc-shaped actuator held by magnetic attraction. Pushing on the switch surface or any
custom designed key cap closes the contact and actuates the MagnaMouse. Electrodes are arranged to
produce different outputs when contacted in different locations. The MagnaMouse allows for the integration
of cursor control devices into ultra-thin, durable control panels, as well as a highly reliable actuator under
joystick controls.” o




The Duraswitch PushFlex. The Duraswitch PushFlex technology combines a commonly available
magnet sheet and a magnetically receptive actuating layer to create a unique switch construction. The
actuating layer is a slotted flat configuration that aligns to holes cut in the magnetic layer. Together, these
layers form a web of switches. PushFlex offers an alternative to both domes and conductive rubber keypads.
The web configuration eliminates the need for individual placement of domes, keeping assembly costs down.
The entire tooling, sourcing, and molding process for conductive rubber keypads is eliminated. Because
PushFlex offers a compelling cost-per-key value proposition, development of the technology has been aimed at
applications using numerous pushbuttons like a typical keyboard.

Customers

Our success depends in part on our licensees’ ability to incorporate our technologies into OEM’s designs
and products in key industry segments. As a result, we have licensed various custom and turnkey switch
manufacturers to produce switches for devices in a wide variety of industries. Some of the key industries in
which our licensees operate include the following: elevator, beverage dispensing, energy management, test and
measurement, medical, point-of-sale, appliance, vending machine, gaming, recreational marine, industrial
automation, health and fitness, restaurant equipment, gas pump, mass transit, computer, lighting and sound,
aerospace, and industrial controls.

In April 2000, we entered into an agreement whereby we received $4 million from Delphi Automotive
Systems LLC in exchange for: (a) Delphi’s exclusive right to utilize and manufacture our patented switch
technologies for the automotive industry; (b) a warrant to purchase 225,000 shares of our common stock at
$7 per share; and (c¢) an option to purchase approximately 1.65 million shares of our stock at $7 per share. The
license agreement with Delphi generated licensing revenue of $2,955,118 or 86% of licensing revenue,
$1,407,978, or 80% of licensing revenue, and $409,753, or 54% of licensing revenue, in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. In 2005, licensing revenue from Delphi resulted from the $2 million dollar minimum royalty
payment and the recognition of the remaining deferred revenue. In 2004, licensing revenue from Delphi
primarily resulted from the recognition of the first minimum royalty payment and recognition of deferred
licensing revenue which was recorded in 2000. In 2003, licensing revenue from Delphi primarily resulted from
the recognition of deferred licensing revenue. On October 8, 2005, Delphi filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy
protection. On October 27, 2005, the bankruptcy dourt approved the termination of the Delphi license
agreement, effective October 17 2005.

Competition

We believe that the primary competitors for our licensed electronic switch technologies are manufactur-
ers of electro-mechanical and dome membrane switches. Many of these manufacturers have established
products, broad brand and name recognition, and significantly greater resources than we do. Our strategy has
not been to compete directly with these manufacturers, but to offer to license them our switch technologies. If
these manufacturers, as licensees, incorporate our technology into their switches, we will have converted our
competitors into business partners and Duraswitch technology advocates.

While a licensing business mode! fosters cooperation, switch manufacturers may not adopt Duraswitch’s
technologies. In particular, manufacturers may be reluctant to alter current designs or have other long-
standing relationships that may affect the manufacturers decision to use one technology over another, even if

our technologies offer additional benefits.
l

~ We expect to encounter competition in the area of business opportunities from other entities having
similar business objectives. Many of these potential compentors may possess financial, technical, human and
other resources greater than ours. We anticipate that'we will face increased competition in the future as new
companies enter the market. '

FinePoint MagicPoint® Computing Pen Technology

Our goal is to be the market leader in technology development and commercialization of innovative pen
computing products. In order to achieve this objective, we have continued to improve our pen input technology
by optimizing size, weight, power consumption, and: costs, while reducing product development cycles and
providing our customers various customizable solutions. We have developed digital pen technology, offering a
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significant advancement in performance over current analog products at a competitive cost. We are marketing
this new technology to computer OEMs and expect to expand our market share by offering enhanced product
capability, customer responsive service and a roadmap for future innovation using our technology.

Our FinePoint Innovations division designs, develops and commercializes innovative pen-input solutions
for builders of tablet personal computers, computer peripheral products, point-of-sale terminals, and kiosks.
We provide pen and digitizer assemblies to OEM customers mostly through contract manufacturers with
limited production at the FinePoint office.

FinePoint was formed in 2000 through the purchase of all necessary business assets from Mutoh
America, including intellectual property and patents, to design and build pen input products and technology
for new customers and customers formerly associated with Mutoh America. We acquired FinePoint in
September 2005.

We work with contract manufacturers to manufacture our pen and digitizer product. The assembly is
then sold to the ODM or OEM customer for integration into the final product.

Computing Pen and Digitizer Industry Analysis. Computing pens and digitizers are used to transform
human input into a digital signal that a computer or portable device can process. Products that use digitizer
input include tablet or convertible PCs, personal digital assistants, or PDAs, point-of-sale devices, kiosks and
various computer peripherals.

History of Digitizer Technology. Digitizer technology has been around for many years and continues to
evolve to meet the increasing demands for higher resolution, higher accuracy and lower power consumption.

There are two basic types of digitizer technology used today: active digitizers and passive digitizers. Both
active and passive digitizers use similar components to digitize data:

+ A pen, stylus or human finger to generate input data

* A sensor device to generate X, y analog coordinates from the input data
» A micro controller to convert the x, y coordinates into digital data

* Driver software

Passive technology is used in PDAs and many vertical tablet applications today. The term resistive is used
synonymously with the term passive in these applications. In a resistive digitizer all of the electronic
components are contained on or beneath the surface of the contacted surface. The input device contains no
electronics and can be any hard object (typically a stylus), to create the data to be input.

In a resistive digitizer, a voltage is applied to the top sheet. As the user touches the screen, the top sheet
compresses the spacer dots so that the top and bottom layers are in contact. Upon contact, current flows to the
four corners in proportion to the distance from the edge. The x & y position of the stylus is then calculated by
the controller based on the changes in the current flows and digital coordinates are generated.

Other passive digitizing technologies used primarily in non-portable touch screen applications include
capacitive, near-field imaging, acoustic wave, and infrared technology.

Electromagnetic or active digitizers utilize an input device (e.g., a pen) which contains some electronics
external to the touched surface of the digitizing device. An active digitizer uses electromagnetic technology to
transmit information about the pen’s location, via the pen, to the sensor grid located behind the liquid-crystal
display. The controller’s chipset uses this information to create digital data, including ASCII data packages,
which are used by the host computer. Active digitizer technology is the technology of choice for applications
in which higher resolution, higher accuracy and the ability to hover, also called mouse-over or rollover, is
required.

There are two types of active digitizers available on the market today. One uses a self-powered pen
(battery in pen) and one uses a grid-powered pen (no battery in the pen). Self-powered pens favor high
performance, low power applications. Grid-powered pens are favored by small pen size or desktop applications
where power is less of a concern. '




FinePoint Technologies Competitive Advantages

FinePoint management has a long history in the computing pen industry and has provided analog pen and
digitizer assemblies to OEM customers including HP, Fujitsu, IBM, Itronix, Walkabout Computers and
Symbol Technologies. We recently introduced our digital pen technology, offering a significant advancement
in performance over current analog products at a competitive cost. We believe that our digital solution offers
competitive advantages including:

o Better Accuracy. Analog communications assign a specific frequency band to each function and
measure the frequency to determine what information is being transmitted from the pen. Thus, added
features in an analog system will reach a limit, or bandwidth limitation. Increasing the operational
bandwidth will result in a noisier system which, reports position information with less fidelity. For the
user, this means lower accuracy and increased jitter. Digital communication is not limited by
bandwidth, thus improving the position signal fidelity {better accuracy and less jitter). We believe our
digital system offers the user a true pen-and-paper experience.

» Lower Cost. With our digital technology, adding features does not require additional tuning or
increase the cost of production.

o Increased Feature-Enhancement Capability. Our digital technology inherently offers increased fea-
ture-enhancement capability that is not easily achieved with analog technology. For example, our
MagicPoint pen can be configured for eraser] lasso, brush, air brush, calligraphy and highlighting
capability. The technology also allows for unique pen IDs, enables the pen to act as a security key, or to
store files in the pen and move to another device.

FinePoint Strategies

Maintain and Further Our Patented Technologies’ Competitive Advantages. We intend to maintain and
further our computing pen technologies’ competitive advantages in order to accomplish our goal of becoming
the market leader in technology development and commercialization of innovative pen computing products. In
order to achieve this objective, we have continued to.improve our pen input technology by optimizing size,
weight, power consumption, and costs, while reducing product development cycles.

Expand Awareness of Our Technologies’ Advantages. We plan to promote our technologies to achieve
widespread awareness of the advantages of our digital pen solution. We are focusing our sales and marketing
efforts on computer OEMs that currently, or plan to, manufacture tablet PCs and convertible notebooks.
These efforts include one-on-one meetings with key decision makers at the computer OEMs, leveraging
relationships with technology alliances and vendors, exposure in trade magazines and attending trade shows.

Leverage Customer Responsive Culture. We believe our customer responsive culture enables us to
provide superior customer support and flexibility. Our.technology inherently enables customization options at
a lower cost and with easier implementation. Ease of customization enables our customers to differentiate
their product in the marketplace. "

FinePoint Digital Computing Pen Technology

FinePoint’s MagicPoint system consists of a digitizer and digital writing pen. The pen is a cordless, active
RF digital pen versus the earlier analog pen technology used with most computer-based systems. The digitizer
is a complete assembly comprised of a sensor grid and integrated controller electronics with standard
connectors. The controller is a 3-piece chip set, consisting of a pen signal receiver ASIC, programmable logic
device and a pen system processor. The pen transmits a digital signal to the digitizer which is then processed
by the system. ‘

The MagicPoint 800 (MP800) system includes a digitizer and self-powered pen. The pen is powered by a
5-year battery. The self-powered pen transmits a very small constant and continuous electromagnetic signal.
This signal is captured by the digitizer which is positioned behind the display of the tablet PC or video monitor
to determine pen position. The pen position information is sent to the PC or host and is displayed as cursor or
mouse position information. ;




Customers

We market directly to computer OEMSs. Our current target segment is manufacturers of tablet PCs and
“convertible notebooks. We work with contract manufacturers to manufacture our pen and digitizer product.
The assembly is then provided to the ODM or OEM customer for integration into the final product.

As of March 14, 2006 we had received purchase orders totaling $4.4 million from Quanta, who serves as
the ODM for Gateway, Inc. We recognized $2,858,805 of revenue related to this customer in 2005. See “Risk
Factors — Our FinePoint business currently depends on one significant customer.”

Competition

We are aware of several other companies that provide active digitizer solutions including Wacom Ltd,,
Sunrex and N-trig. While these companies provide similar products to ours, we are not aware of any
competitor that is offering a digital solution.

Our competitors may possess financial, technical, human and other resources greater than ours. We
anticipate that we will face increased competition in the future as new companies enter the market.

Intellectual Property

Our success also depends in part on maintaining and protecting our proprietary technologies. As a resuit,
we have adopted an intellectual property protection policy designed to deter and stop infringement. To deter
infringement, we file United States and foreign patents for relevant material technological advances and warn
against potential infringement by posting patent numbers on our products, packaging, and published materials.
Examples of these materials include our website, brochures, advertisements, and some technology samples.
We have not had to become involved in infringement litigation to protect our intellectual property, however,
we intend to prosecute litigation against infringers if necessary.

In order to protect our trade secrets and other intellectual property, we also require our employees,
contract workers, consultants, advisors, and collaborators to enter into confidentiality agreements, which
prohibit the disclosure of proprietary information to third parties or the use of our proprietary information for
commercial purposes. OQur technical and sales employees also must agree to disclose and assign to us all
methods, improvements, modifications, developments, discoveries, and inventions conceived or developed on
the job, using our property, or relating to our business. As of December 31, 2005, we had $1,389,153 of
capitalized costs related to patents, net of accumulated amortization.

As of December 31, 2005, we held 20 United States patents and 21 foreign patents for the Duraswitch
technologies and eight United States patents and one foreign patent for the FinePoint technologies. We also
have patent applications pending in the United States, Mexico, Canada, France, Great Britain, China, Taiwan,
Italy, and Germany. We have made further filings under the Patent Cooperation Treaty, which makes it
possible to seek patent protection for an invention simultaneously in each of a large number of countries by
filing an “international” patent application.

We have registered the following trademarks with the United States Patent and Trademark Office:
“Duraswitch®”, “Duraswitch” as a stylized word with a unique “D”, “The World is Switching®”, “Push-
Gate®”, “thiNcoder®” and “MagicPoint®”. In addition, we have registration pending for InPlay
Technologies™. :

Research, Development, and Commercial Application Engineering

We have nine people in our research, development, and commercial application engineering department
who focus on supporting our licensees, ODMs and OEM customers in the design and implementation of
products using our technologies. These efforts include technology enhancements, value engineering, engineer-
ing manuals, design reviews, and on-site training and manufacturing support.

In 2001 and 2002, we dedicated a large amount of our resources to research and development and the
protection of our patented Duraswitch technologies. Through those efforts, we believe we developed a portfolio
of patented and patent-pending technologies that meet the needs of our Duraswitch licensees, their customers,
and our target markets. Since 2003, we focused our engineering efforts on the commercialization of these
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technologies through our licensees. In 2003, we acqui:red FinePoint Innovations. Our engineering efforts at
FinePoint have been focused on continued technology development, software enhancements, RoHS compli-
ance, and customer support. Qur research, development, and commercial application engineering department
will continue to adapt our technologies as needed for commercialization through our licensees and OEM
customers. We plan to file patents for any unique technology enhancements or developments.

During 2005, 2004, and 2003, we spent $641,047, $472,485 and $917,610, respectively, on research,
development, and commercial application engineering efforts. In late 2002, we announced cost-cutting
initiatives that included significant personnel reductions. We made additional reductions in research and
development personnel during 2003. We expect that future research, development and commercial application
engineering expenses will be higher than 2004 and 2005 due to the additional FinePoint division personnel.

Sales and Marketing

We have three people in the sales and marketing department who focus on supporting our existing
licensees and customers, marketing our technologies to OEMs, obtaining new licensees and customers, and
forming technology alliances. '

Websites: www.inplaytechnologies.com, www.duraswitch.com, and www finepointinnovations.com.
We believe design engineers, purchasing managers and product managers, the individuals mast likely to make
the decision to incorporate our technologies in their products, frequently use the Internet to search for design
solutions. Therefore, our websites are a key component of our current direct marketing efforts. Most of our
advertising and promotional materials direct readers to our websites. In addition to attracting potential
licensees and customers to our websites for information, we use our websites to generate interest in our
technologies. Using our websites as promotional tools is also less expensive than other methods, is interactive
and reaches a global audience. Our websites have several features, including the following:

« information about the advantages of our patented technologies;

« white papers, press releases and articles publis;hed by third parties about our products;
« virtual demonstrations of our technologies and: products;

» technical data to assist design engineers in designing products using our technologies;
« information on producfs that currently use our technologies; and

» benefits and the process for obtaining information to utilize our technologies.

Duraswitch Licensee Support. Our existing Duraswitch licensees and their sales representatives are an
extension of our marketing effort as they sell our technologies to their customers. We provide direct support by
attending sales calls and with one-on-one design reviews and conference calls. We also provide generalized
support and training to keep licensees abreast of technology developments, improvements in processes, and
sales tools. To communicate this, we have created a licensee-only section on our website that includes the
following:

« Click: an e-newsletter highlighting engineering, manufacturing and procurement updates;
» The Report: an e-newsletter with sales tips, licensee success stories, and technology updates;

» web cast training: interactive presentations on Duraswitch technologies given multiple times to
accommodate various time zones, and also archived,;

* online training manuals: complete design and manufacturing manuals for our technologies available
online to ensure updates and enhancements are available immediately;

» sales presentations, marketing literature, images, and logos available for licensees to download and
integrate with their own branded sales materials; and

«_strategic technology partner contacts for proc:urement and support for complementary products that
our licensees often use when manufacturing cur technologies.
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We are also able to negotiate with vendors who provide magnets, adhesives, and other materials used in
the manufacture of our technologies to provide our licensees with preferred pricing.

FinePoint One-on-One Meetings. We estimate that approximately 40 companies worldwide currently
make or sell tablet PCs and convertible notebooks, the initial target products for our technology. Because of
the number of potential customers, and relatively limited number of competitors in our market, we believe
that personal contact and one-on-one meetings are the most effective way to sell our technologies. We believe
the key decision makers within these companies are the product marketing manager and product engineering
manager. Our approach is to meet with these key decision makers to determine pen system features
requirements. We determine which of our products best fit those needs, then present recommendations. We
believe that our customer-responsive approach is one of our advantages over our competitors.

Public Relations. We target technical periodicals for media exposure in an effort to raise awareness of
our technologies and application successes through our licensees and customers. Our public relations
campaigns have included editorial coverage of our technologies and listings in industry-specific supplier
guides. We believe this is a cost-effective method of capturing the attention of design engineers and OEMs
and educating them on the benefits of our technologies. Articles on our technologies have been included in
numerous trade publications and Websites including EE Times, Control Engmeermg, Appliance Magazine,
Electronicstalk, Tablet PC Magazine and Tablet PC Talk.

Seminars and Trade Shows. We present training seminars about our technologies at some vendor-
sponsored events for product design engineers. At these seminars, we are able to meet attendees and provide
them with information about our technologies through multi-media presentations, product demonstrations,
brochures, and samples. We support the efforts of, and often partner with, licensees, customers and technology
partners to broaden awareness of our technologies at these events.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We have experienced recent changes in our business in connection with our acquisition of our FinePoint
business and the termination of our exclusive license agreement with Delphi and we are not certain how
these changes will effect our results of operations or our financial condition.

During September 2005, we acquired FinePoint Innovations, Inc., a developer of patented digital
computing pen solutions for tablet PCs. The digital computing pen market represents an emerging and
expanding market and we cannot provide assurance that this technology will receive the level of commercial
acceptance that we expect. Our failure to manufacture and distribute successfully the acquired technology
would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and liquidity.

During October 2005, in connection with the bankruptcy filing of Delphi Corp., the bankruptey court
accepted a revised order agreeing to the cancellation of our April 2000 license agreement with Delphi that
gave Delphi the exclusive right to utilize and manufacture our patented switch technologies for the automotive
industry. The initial term of the exclusive license agreement was seven years, and the agreement required
Delphi to make minimum royalty payments totaling $12 million during the initial term ending June 30, 2007.
The first payment of $1 million was recognized as revenue on June 30, 2004 and was received during July
2004. The second payment of $2 million was recognized as revenue on June 30, 2005 and was received during
July 2005. Subsequent payments were due as follows: $3 million in July 2006; and $6 million in July 2007. The
loss of this license agreement and the future minimum license payments due us during 2006 and 2007 may
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and liquidity.

Our FinePoint business currently depends on one significant customer.

We market our FinePoint computing pen technology to computer OEMs. We currently have significant
purchase orders from Quanta, who serves as the original design manufacturer for Gateway Inc. Our business
depends to a significant extent on Gateway’s success in selling computers that incorporate our computing pen
technology. Any material delay, cancellation, or reduction of orders from Quanta or Gateway could have a
material adverse effect on our business. In addition, Gateway could select an alternate computmg pen
technology for its products.
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We anticipate that sales to Quanta for Gateway products during 2006 will exceed 2005 levels and that a
significant percentage of our revenue during 2006 will be iattributable to Quanta and Gateway. We do not have
a long-term contractual commitment with Quanta or Gateway to purchase any of our products. As a result, a
decline in sales to Quanta and Gateway could occur at any time. An unexpected reduction in Gateway sales of
computers incorporating our computing pen technology will reduce our net sales and have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial posmon

As a result of this relatlonshlp, we also face rlsks related to our accounts receivable attributable to
Quanta. Our failure to collect these receivables on a timely basis will effect our liquidity and possibly effect
our ability to have sufficient working capital to fulfill subsequent or outstanding purchase orders.

We depend on our ability to identify and obtain additional technologies for our patent portfolio.

Our success will depend in part upon our ability to identify and obtain proprietary technologies under
terms and conditions that create an economic benefit foriour company. Our success is also dependent upon our
ability to commercialize these technologies to economi¢ viability.

Our technologies may not gain,market acceptance.

Our success will depend inl part on the commercial acceptance of our patented technology portfolio and
our ability to license those patents or sell our products to companies with the ability to incorporate the
technologies in a wide range of products. To be accepted our technologies must meet the expectations of our
potential customers.

We market our Duraswitch switch technologies directly to OEMs, whose products utilize switches, and to
our licensees to encourage them to incorporate our technologies in the switches they supply to OEMs, focusing
on the advantages of our switches over the electro-mechanical and dome membrane switches. If the OEMs or
our licensees ultimately decide to continue with their existing switch technologies, our business would be
adversely affected. ; :

We market our FinePoint digital computing pen technology to computer OEMs, offering a new digital
solution versus the analog pen products currently used in the majority of tablet PC applications. If the OEMs
decide to continue with their existing pen technology, our business would be adversely affected.

Should we be unable to protect our proprietary technologies, their value and our competitive position
would be significantly impaired. ;

Although we seek to protect our intellectual property rights through patents, copyrights, trade secret
protection, and other measures,

1

+ we may be unable to protect adequately our teehnologies;

« competitors may be able to develop similar or better technologies independently;
t

+ any of our pending patent applications may not; be issued; or

« intellectual property laws may not continue to prptect our intellectual property rights, particularly as we
expand our business in- foreign countries where the local laws do not provide strong protection of
intellectual properties or recognize international treaties.

Claims that we infringe third-party intellectual property rights could result in significant expenses or
restrictions on our ability to market and license technology.

In recent years, there has been significant htlganon in the United States involving patents and other
intellectual property rights. From time to time, third pames may assert patent, copyright, trademark, and other
intellectual property claims against technologies used in our business. Any such claims, with or without merit,
could be time consuming to defend, would result in costly litigation, and divert the efforts of our personnel.
Claims of intellectual property infringement might require us to enter into costly royalty or license agreements.
Additionally, we might be unable to obtain royalty or license agreements on terms acceptable to us. A
successful claim of patent or other intellectual property infringement against us could have a material adverse
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affect on our business. We are not currently involved in any litigation to protect our technologies from
infringement or to defend against claims of infringement.

We may have difficulty protecting our intellectual property rights overseas.

The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to as great an extent as do
the laws of the United States, and many U.S. companies have encountered substantial infringement problems
in some foreign countries. Because some of our products are sold and a portion of our business is conducted
overseas, our exposure to intellectual property risks may be higher.

Acquisitions could divert management’s time and attention, dilute the voting power of existing
stockholders, and have a material adverse effect on our business.

As part of our growth strategy, we intend to acquire emerging proprietary technologies. Acquisitions that
we may make in the future could result in the diversion of time and personnel from our business. We also may
issue shares of common stock or other securities in connection with acquisitions, which could result in the
dilution of the voting power of existing stockholders and could dilute earnings per share. Any acquisitions
would be accompanied by other risks commonly encountered in such transactions, including the following:

+ difficulties integrating the operations and personnel of acquired companies;
+» additional financial resources required to fund the operations of acquired companies;
+» potential disruption of our business;

« our ability to maximize our financial and strategic position by the incorporation of acquired technology
or businesses with our product offerings;

. difﬁculty of maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedures, and policies;

» potential loss of key employees of acquired companies;

« impairment of employee and customer relationships as a result of changes in management;
+ significant expenditures to consummate acquisitions; and

« difficulties in meeting applicable regulatory requirements.

We depend on our management team.

Our future success will largely depend on the efforts of key management personnel. The loss of one or
more of these key employees could have a material adverse effect on our business. We depend upon the
services of Robert J. Brilon, our Chief Executive Officer, President, and Chief Financial Officer, Anthony J.
Van Zeeland, our Chief Technology Officer and Stephen Caldwell, President of our FinePoint division.
Mr. Brilon has extensive experience in the formation, financing, and management of entrepreneurial
companies. Mr. Van Zeeland has over 30 years experience in the switch industry. Mr. Caldwell has 14 years of
experience in the computing pen and digitizer industry. We have employment agreements with Mr. Brilon for
a two-year evergreen term, with Mr. Van Zeeland for a term that expires December 31, 2007, and with
Mr. Caldwell for a term that expires August 31, 2010.

We have a history of operating losses.

Prior to 2005, we have had substantial losses since our inception. We expect to continue committing
substantial resources to the establishment and support of new Duraswitch licensees, new OEM customer
relationships, and expanding our market share for our technologies. We are unable to estimate accurately
future revenue based upon historical performance and we cannot assure you if and when we will sustain
profitability

We face risks related to rapidly changing technology.

Our results of operations will depend in part on successful management of the challenges of rapidly
changing technology and evolving industry standards characteristic of the market for electronic components.
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We may encounter additional challenges as we expand our intellectual property portfolio into new markets.
These challenges include predicting the nature and timing of technological changes and the direction of
evolving industry standards and identifying, developing, and successfully marketing new technologies as they
emerge. We work with our licensees and OEM customers to design solutions specific to their needs and the
needs of their customers. '

Our growing international business activities subject us to risks that could reduce the demand for our
products and increase our operating expenses.

During 20035, net revenue from international licensees represented 47% of our total net revenue. We have
been expanding our licensing business with interndtional licensees and expect that net revenue from
international licensees will increase. During 2005, we acquired FinePoint Innovations and expect that a
significant portion of our revenue derived from this business will be from international customers. To date, all
of our revenue and substantially all of our costs have been denominated.in U.S. dollars. We expect that net
revenue and substantially all of our costs will continue to be denominated in U.S. dollars for the foreseeable
future. We could be significantly affected by other rlsks assoc1ated with international activities, including the
following:

« different technology standards and design requirements;

* longer payment cycles for and greater difficulties collecting accounts receivable;
« fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

* nationalization, expropfiation and limitations on repatriation of cash;

* social, economic, banking and political risks; .

* taxation; | ;

» changes in U.S. laws and policies affecting trade, foreign investment and loans; and

* changes in enforcement of laws protecting intellectual property.

Our quarterly revenue and operating results may ﬂuétuate.

Our results may fluctuate from those in prior quarters and will continue to do so due to a variety of
factors. These factors include the following:

» establishment, growth or loss of licensee or OEM customer relationships;

« timing of introductions, production, and sales cycles of new products by our hcensees or OEM
_customers 1ncorporat1ng our technologies, whlch is at their discretion; and

« market acceptance of our technologles

The 'price of our.common stock may be volatile.

The stock market has experienced extreme volatility that often has been unrelated or disproportionate to
the performance of particular companies. These market fluctuations may cause our stock price to-decrease
regardless of our performance. The market price of our common stock has been, and in the future could be
significantly affected by factors such as, but not limited to the following: s

* actual or anticipated ﬂuctuatlons in operating results

* announcements rcgardmg our technologles or our competltors technologies, new hcensees .new
customers, or other business developmcnts, and :

+ sales or the perception in the market of possible sales by insiders or others which could have a
disproportionate effect on our stock price due to our typlcally low trading volume.

The stock market has éxperienced significant pnce and volume fluctuations that have pamcularly
affected the=market prices of the stocks of technology’ companies. Recently, the market price of our common
stock, like that of many technology companies, has experienced significant fluctuations. For instance, from
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August 26, 1999, the date we became a reporting company, to December 31, 2005, the price of our common
stock ranged from $0.50 to $17.92 per share. On March 14, 2006, the last reported sale price of our common
stock was $3.00.

The market price of our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, significantly affected by
expectations of analysts and investors. Reports and statements of analysts do not necessarily reflect our views.

Rights to acquire shares of common stock could result in dilution to other holders of common stock.

As of December 31, 2005, we had options to purchase 1,351,056 shares of common stock outstanding
under our stock option plans at a weighted average exercise price of $7.16 per share and we had outstanding
warrants to purchase 509,091 shares of common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $3.64 per share.
We have filed registration statements under the securities laws to register the common stock to be issued
under our stock option plans. As a result, shares issued under these option plans will be freely tradable without
restriction unless acquired by affiliates of our company, who will be subject to the volume and other
limitations of Rule 144. The existence of such stock options and warrants could adversely affect the terms on
which we can obtain additional financing, and the holders of these securities can be expected to purchase
shares at a time when we, in all likelihood, would be able to obtain additional capital by offering shares of
common stock on terms more favorable to us than those provided by such securities. We have filed a
registration statement under the securities laws to register the common stock to be issued upon exercise of the
warrants, which we expect to be declared effective by April 26, 2006.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation, granting our board of director’s broad discretion to
issue shares of preferred stock, may adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. ‘

Our board of directors may, without further action by our common stockholders, from time to time, issue
shares of our authorized but unissued preferred stock, and determine the rights, preferences, and limitations of
each series of preferred stock. Upon the vote of a majority of the directors then in office, our board of
directors, without stockholder approval, may issue shares of preferred stock with dividend, liquidation, voting,
conversion, and other rights superior to the rights of our common stockholders. Satisfaction of any dividend
preferences of our outstanding redeemable preferred stock and future issuances of preferred stock would
reduce the amount of funds available for the payment of dividends on shares of common stock. Holders of
shares of preferred stock may be entitled to receive a preference payment in the event of any liquidation,
dissolution, or winding-up of our company before any payment to our common stockholders. Under some
circumstances, the issuances of shares of preferred stock may make a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest or
the assumption of control by a holder of a large block of our securities or the removal of incumbent
management more difficult. Any issuances of our preferred stock thus may have a material adverse effect on
your rights as a common stockholder.

Employees

As of March 14, 2006, we had 24 employees. None of our employees are covered by collective bargaining
agreements and we consider our employee relations to be good.
Executive Officers

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our executive officers:

Name A_g_e Position

Robert J. Brilon ................... 45  Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief
Financial Officer, Secretary, Treasurer, and
Director

Anthony J. Van Zeeland ............ 64  Chief Technology Officer and Director

Robert J. Brilon became Chief Executive Officer in 2002 and has served as President and Chief Financial
Officer of InPlay Technologies since November 1998. Mr. Brilon served as Chairman from May 2002 through
March 2005. Mr. Brilon holds a B.S. degree in Business Administration from the University of lowa and is a
CPA.

16




Anthony J. Van Zeeland became Chief Technology Officer in July 2003 and has served as director since
our company’s formation in May 1997. From May 1997 to July 2003, Mr. Van Zeeland served as our Chief
Operating Officer and Executive Vice President, Engineering. Mr. Van Zeeland holds a B.S. degree in Physics
and a Masters of Science in Materials Engineering from the University of Wisconsin. Michael Van Zeeland,
Mr. Van Zeeland’s son, also serves as one of our Directors.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Description of Property

Our principal administrative and Duraswitch deéign facilities are located in Mesa, Arizona, where we
presently lease 8,926 square feet of office space in a building located at 234 South Extension Road. Our lease
terminates on December 31, 2006, subject to our option to extend the term for two additional one-year
periods. Our principal FinePoint facilities are located in Phoenix, Arizona, where we presently lease
5,302 square fee of office space at a building located at 15220 South 50th Street. Our lease terminates on
June 15, 2009. We believe our current facilities will be sufficient for our operational purposes for the
foreseeable future and any additional facilities needed thereafter will be available on commercially reasonable
terms. :

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time we may be subject to claims and litigation incident to our business. As of March 14,
2006, we were not party to any material legal proceedings.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securitﬁ Holders

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Small Business Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities

Our common stock has been listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market (formerly the NASDAQ SmaliCap
Market) under the symbol “NPLA” since June 2005. Prior to that time, our common stock was listed on the
NASDAQ SmallCap Market or the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “DSWT.” The following
table sets forth high and low sales prices of the common stock for each calendar quarter indicated as reported
on the NASDAQ National Market or NASDAQ SmallCap Market, as applicable.

High  Low

Year Ended December 31, 2004
First QUarter. . ..o e $2.75  $1.60
Second QuUarter ... 4.70 2.05
Third Quarter . . ... ... 3.01 1.95
Fourth Quarter . ... .. 292 1.80

Year Ended December 31, 2005
First QUarter. ... e e $2.60 $1.11
Second QUAETr .. ...ttt 3.10 1.25
Third Quarter . . ... 3.80 1.20
Fourth Quarter. . ... ... i e e 4.15 0.80

Year Ended December 31, 2006
First Quarter (through March 14,2006) .............. .. . it $3.82 8270

As of March 14, 2006, the closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market was
$3.00, and there were approximately 330 holders of record of our common stock. We believe that our common
stock is held by approximately 2,100 beneficial holders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared any cash dividends on our common stock since we currently intend to retain any
future earnings to finance future growth. We do not intend to declare any dividends on our common stock in
the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On December 27, 2005, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with institutional investors
whereby we issued 1,272,728 shares of our common stock at $2.75 per share and five-year warrants to
purchase 381,818 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $3.44 per share. Roth Capital Partners,
LLC served as placement agent in the private placement, for which it received commissions of $280,000 and
five-year placement agent warrants to purchase 127,273 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of
$4.22 per share. The placement agent will receive 4% of the gross exercise price of the investor warrants when
and if exercised. We agreed to register for resale the shares of common stock purchased under the agreement
and the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants and the agent warrants. We filed the
registration statement during February 2006, which has not yet been declared effective. In the event that the
registration statement is not declared effective by April 26, 2006 we are subject to a penalty of 1.5 percent of
the gross proceeds from the offering. We believe the shares will be registered on a timely basis and no penalty
will be incurred. We received net proceeds from the offering of approximately $3.1 million, after deducting
placement agent fees and other offering expenses. We plan to use the net proceeds from the private offering
for working capital for our FinePoint business, which produces digital computing pen solutions for tabiet PCs
and computer peripherals, as well as for general corporate purposes. In the event the closing price of our
common stock equals or exceeds $5.50 per share for a period of 60 consecutive trading days, we may redeem
the warrants issued to the investors for $0.01 per warrant upon notice to the warrant holders. We issued the
securities described above to the investors and the placement agent in reliance upon Section 4(2) of the
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Securities Act of 1933 as a transaction by an issuer not involving a public offering. Each of the share
certificates and warrants issued in the transaction bears a restrictive legend permitting the transfer thereof only
in compliance with applicable securities laws. The investors in the private placement represented to us their
intention to acquire the securities for investment purposes only and not with a view to or for sale in connection
with any distribution thereof. All investors had adequate access, through reports filed by us with the SEC or
through other access to information provided by us, to information about our company.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information with respect to shares of our common stock that may be issued
upon the exercise of outstanding warrants as well as outstanding stock options under our 1997 Stock Option
Plan, our 1999 Stock Option Plan, our 2000 Stock Option Plan, and our 2005 Stock Award Plan as of
December 31, 2005.

()

(a) Number of Securities
Number of Securities (b) Remaining Available for
to be Issued Upon Weighted Average Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation
Outstanding Options, QOutstanding Plans (Excluding
) Warrants, and Options, Warrants, Securities Reflected in
Plan Category Rights and Rights Column (a)
Equity Compensation Plans )
Approved by Stockholders . .. ... 1,351,056 $7.16 201,687
Equity Compensation Plans Not
Approved by Stockholders .. .. .. 509,091 (1) $3.64 —
Total ................ EEEEEEEE 1,860,147 $6.20 201,687

(1) Issuance of warrants in connection with the December 2005 private placement of 1,272,728 shares.

Item 6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Overview

We develop, market, and license patented enabling technologies. Our current technologies include the
Duraswitch® electronic pushbutton, rotary, and omni-directional switch technologies and the FinePoint
MagicPoint® computing pen technology.

We have developed, patented, and licensed innovative technologies utilizing a magnetic-based design for
electronic switches under the Duraswitch brand name. We are currently expanding the use of these
technologies by licensing manufacturers to produce and sell products using our technologies. We believe these
patented and patent-pending technologies allow us and our licensees to provide innovative solutions to the
design challenges faced by OEMs and component s1(ipp1iers.

As of March 14, 2006, we had 28 licensees of our switch technologies, foreign and domestic.

During September 2005, we acquired FinePoint Innovations, a developer of digital computing pen
technology. We are marketing FinePoint’s MagicPoint digitizer and pen products to manufacturers of
convertible notebooks and tablet PCs. We believe our dlgltal pen technology offers significant advantages over
the current analog products. As of March 14, 2006, we had purchase orders from one major computer OEM
and several smaller manufacturers. '

We anticipate that revenue will fluctuate from period to period. It will be difficult for us to predict the
timing and magnitude of such revenue, as it depends on our licensees’ and our customers’ ability to market,
produce and ship products that incorporate our technologies. We believe that the amount of revenue for any
period is not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.

Our research, development, and commercial application engineering expenses are comprised mainly of
personnel, occupancy costs, and engineering supplies. Our selling, general and administrative expenses are
comprised mainly of personnel costs, legal and accounting fees, depreciation, insurance, and occupancy costs.
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Application of Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the policies below as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our
results of operations. The impact and any associated risks related to these policies on our business operations
are discussed throughout Management’s Discussion and Analysis when such policies affect our reported or
expected financial results.

In the ordinary course of business, we have made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the
reporting of results of operations and financial condition in the preparation of our financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circum-
stances. The results form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates
under different assumptions and conditions. We believe that the following discussion addresses our most
critical accounting policies, which are those that are most important to the portrayal of our financial condition
and results of operations and require our most difficult, subjective, and complex judgments, often as a result of
the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.

Revenue Recognition. Our Duraswitch segment enters into licensing agreements with our customers.
Our licensing agreements require the licensee to purchase licensed components from us. The purchase price of
the licensed components includes the royalty fee. When the components are shipped, we recognize revenue
and cost of goods sold. In cases where no licensed components are supplied, we are paid a royalty per switch
manufactured by the licensee and we recognize revenue in the period the switch is manufactured.

Some of our licensees have prepaid royalties to us pursuant to their license agreements. These
prepayments are recorded as deferred licensing revenue. This deferred revenue is recognized as revenue when
earned under the licensing agreement. If a licensee purchases a licensed component from us, the royalty is
earned when the licensed component is shipped. If the licensee directly manufactures our switches without
purchasing licensed components from us, we consider the royalty earned when the switch is manufactured.

Our FinePoint segment manufactures digital computing pens and digitizers for the convertible notebook
and tablet PC market. Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has
occurred, the fee is fixed and determinable and collectibility is probable. Generally, all of these conditions are
met at the time we deliver products to customers.

Inventory Valuation. Our inventory is primarily comprised of certain raw materials that are used in the
manufacture of digital pens and digitizers and licensed components, and finished goods which are primarily
pens and digitizers that are in transit to the customer. We record inventories at the lower of cost or market
value, determined using the first-in, first-out method. Our policy is to write down our inventory for estimated
obsolescence or unmarketable inventory to the extent the cost exceeds the estimated market value. We base
the estimate on our assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are
less favorable than those assumed in our estimates, additional inventory write-downs might be required. We
reflect any write-down of inventory in the period in which the facts giving rise to the inventory write-down
become known to us.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. We review our long-lived assets and identifiable
intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
the asset may not be recoverable. Additionally, goodwill is reviewed on an annual basis. Our intangible assets
are primarily our patents and the goodwill associated with the 2005 acquisition of FinePoint and the 1998
acquisition of Aztec Industries. If such assets were considered to be impaired, the impairment to be
recognized would be measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair
market value of the assets.

We evaluate the recoverability of property and equipment and intangibles (excluding goodwill) not held
for sale by comparing the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets against the estimated undiscounted
future net cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset or group of assets. If the undiscounted
estimated cash flows are less than the carrying value of the asset or group of assets being reviewed, an
impairment loss would be recorded. The loss would be measured based on the estimated fair value of the asset
or group of assets compared to its carrying value. The estimated fair value would be based on the best
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information available under the circumstances, including prices for similar assets and the results of valuation
techniques, including the present value of expected future cash flows using a discount rate commensurate with
the risks involved.

We evaluate goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment at least annually, in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
(“SFAS No. 142”). For goodwill, we first compare the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount,
including goodwill. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of a reporting unit,
additional tests would be used to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. We use a present value
technique to measure reporting unit fair value. If the carrying amount of any other intangible asset exceeds its
fair value, we would recognize an impairment loss for the difference between fair value and the carrying
amount. If other events occur and circumstances change, causing the fair value of a reporting unit to fall below
its carrying amount, impairment losses may be recognized in the future. In accordance with SFAS No. 142,
we performed our annual impairment test in December 2005 and found no impairment in our existing goodwill
balances.

Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2004 ,

Net Revenue. The following table summarizes our net revenue:
" Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 Increase Increase %

Duraswitch ............... ... .. ... ..., “$3,424,429 $1,757,053  $1,667,376 95%
FIinePoint . ........ovvvnneieaneianin. 3,031,115 — 3,031,115 =

Total Net Revenue ................... $6,455,544  $1,757,053  $4,698,491 267%

The increase in total net revenue is primarily a result of our acquisition of FinePoint during September
2005 and the minimum royalty payment related to our Delphi license agreement. Our license agreement with
Delphi required Delphi to pay us minimum royalty payments totaling $12 million during the initial term
ending June 30, 2007. The first payment of $1 million was recognized as revenue on June 30, 2004 and was
received in July 2004. The second payment of $2 million was recognized as revenue on June 30, 2005 and was
received in July 2005. On October 8, 2005, Delphi filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection. On October 27,
2005 the bankruptcy court cancelled the Delphi licénse agreement, effective October 17, 2005. In the fourth
quarter of 2005, $648,083 of deferred revenue related to the Delphi license agreement was recognized as
revenue as the license agreement was terminated.

Net Duraswitch Revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 recognition of revenue from
the Delphi license agreement generated $2,955,118 and $1,407,978 of Duraswitch licensing revenue represent-
ing 86% and 80% of Duraswitch licensing revenue, respectively.

We anticipate that Duraswitch licensing revenue will fluctuate from period to period. It will be difficult
for us to predict the timing and magnitude of such revenue, as it depends on production orders being issued to
our licensees for products utilizing our technologies. The timing of the purchase orders depends on economic
conditions as well as market acceptance of products that incorporate our technologies. The amount of
licensing revenue for any period is not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.

Net FinePoint Revenue. Revenue related to one customer was $2,858,805 and represented 94% of net
FinePoint revenue. We have received purchase orders from this customer for a total of $4.4 million to date.

Cost of Goods Sold. The following table summarizes our cost of goods sold (COGS):
Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 Increase Increase %

Duraswitch ........... ... ... ..o 3 253,105 $187,547 § 65,558 35%
FinePoint........... EEERETR PPN 2,224,266 — 2,224,266 —

Total COGS ...... U : $2,477,371  $187,547  $2,289,824 1221%
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The increase in total COGS was primarily the result of FinePoint’s sale of digital pens and digitizers. We
anticipate that our gross profit as a percentage of revenue will fluctuate in future periods as we experience
changes in the percentage of revenue generated from sales of digital pens and digitizers, sales of licensed
components, and royalties from licensees who manufacture products utilizing our technologies without
purchasing licensed components from us.

Duraswitch COGS. Duraswitch COGS is primarily comprised of licensed components and other switch
materials which are sold to licensees. The increase is primarily related to increased sales of materials sold to
licensees to be used in the manufacture of rotary switches.

FinePoint COGS. FinePoint COGS relates to the production of FinePoint’s digital computing pens and
digitizers. We anticipate that FinePoint COGS will increase as FinePoint revenue increases. We anticipate
that FinePoint COGS on a per unit basis will decrease as volumes increase and the supply chain and the
manufacturing process mature. The COGS as a percentage of FinePoint revenue will fluctuate depending on
the average selling price to OEMs, which is typically expected to decline as cost efficiencies are achieved.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. The following table summarizes our selling, general and
administrative expenses (SG&A):

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 Increase Increase %
Duraswitch ........ . ... ... ..o oL, $ 710,610 $ 640,975 § 69,635 11%
FinePoint.......... .. ... . ... ... . ..., 326,475 — 326,475 —
Corporate. . ..o oo 1,683,815 1,266,059 417,756 33%
Total SG&A ........... .. $2,720,900  $1,907,034  $813,866 i_é%

Duraswitch SG&A. Duraswitch SG&A primarily consists of salaries of sales and administrative
personnel and selling, marketing and promotional expenses. The increase is primarily due to increased
commissions and fees related to the recognition of the Delphi minimum royalty revenue.

FinePoint SG&A. FinePoint SG&A primarily consists of salaries of sales and administrative personnel
and occupancy costs.

Corporate SG&A. Corporate SG&A primarily consists of salaries, accounting, legal and other profes-
sional expenses and occupancy costs. The increase is primarily related to the.bonus earned by our CEO and to
additional director fees to compensate our Board of Directors at a level more commensurate with their time
spent and industry standards.

Research, Development and Commercial Application Engineering Expenses. The following table sum-
marizes our research, development and commercial application engineering expenses (R&D):

Year Ended December 31,

Increase Increase
2005 2004 (Decrease) (Decrease) %
DUIasWitch . .. .o oo $431,265  $472,485  $(41,220) (9)%
FinePoint ......... ... . ... ... .. ..... 209,782 — 209,782 -
Total R&D ... ... i $641,047 $472,485  $168,562 2%

Duraswitch R&D. Duraswitch R&D consists primarily of salaries and occupancy costs of the team
focusing on the commercialization engineering of the Duraswitch technologies. The decrease primarily relates
to an open engineering position.

FinePoint R&D. FinePoint R&D consists primarily of salaries of engineering personnel and engineering
supplies.

Impairment Loss on Note Receivable. On April 21, 2004 we entered into an agreement to acquire all of
the shares of Active Recognition Technologies, Inc., or ART, a privately held developer and licensor of vehicle
and license plate recognition software. We were not required to close the transaction unless ART achieved
$400,000 of net revenue and $100,000 average earnings before interest and taxes, or EBIT, for two consecutive
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fiscal quarters prior to July 31, 2005. ART did not satisfy either of these conditions. During the twelve months
following the execution of the agreement, we committed to provide funding to ART, up to a maximum of
$500,000, in the form of convertible debt. The debt bears interest at 5% per annum, matures April 2006, and is
secured by a first priority lien on all assets of ART. At December 31, 2004, we had advanced $390,000 under
the loan. The remaining $110;000 was advanced during the first quarter of 2005.

ART did not achieve the revenue or EBIT levels 'which were required as a condition of closing. We also
believed that there was no assurance that ART would achieve positive cash flow or obtain additional financing
that would allow it to repay the convertible debt or allow ART to continue as a going concern for the next
twelve months. As a result, we recorded an impairment loss for the year ending December 31, 2004 for the
total commitment of $500,000. We have no commitment to fund ART operations beyond the $500,000.

Interest and Other Income — Net. Interest and other income — net was $51,424 and $37,935 for the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase was due to increased interest income as a
result of higher interest rates.’

Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2003

Net Revenue. We recorded net revenue of $1,757,053 for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared
to $759,912 for the year ended December 31, 2003, ‘an increase of $997,141. The increase was due to the
recognition of the first $1 million minimum royalty payment from Delphi.

Our license agreement with Delphi generated licensing revenue of $1,407,978 or 80% of our licensing
revenue and total net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004 and $409,753 or 54% of our licensing
revenue and total net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003. Licensing revenue from Delphi primarily
resulted from the recognition of the first $1 million minimum royalty payment and recognition of deferred
licensing revenue which was recorded in 2000.

To date, the majority of non-exclusive licensing revenue has been related to our PushGate pushbutton
technology. The number of unit sales of royalty-bearing PushGates has fluctuated during the last three years
from approximately 2.8 million in 2002 to 2.3 million in 2003 to 1.8 million in 2004. The decrease from 2002
to 2003 was primarily due to the 2002 sale of one million units to one licensee not being replicated in 2003 and
was offset by increased unit sales to other licensees. The decrease from 2003 to 2004 was primarily due to a
decrease in the number of new licensees in 2004 purchasing initial inventories. In 2003, we had eight new
licensees that purchased approximately 740,000 units. In 2004 we had one new licensee. In 2004, the revenue
impact of the decrease in unit sales of PushGates was offset by the sale of other materials used in switch
construction that we sell to licensees as an additional service.

Cost of Goods Sold. Total cost of goods sold and licensing cost of goods sold was $187,547 for the year
ended December 31, 2004, compared to $103,304 for the year ended December 31, 2003, an increase of
$84,243. The increase in cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2004 versus 2003 was primarily
due to two factors: 1) an increase in our cost of the PushGate licensed components; and 2) increased sales of
other low margin materials. The increase in our cost of the PushGate licensed components was the result of
quality issues with licensed components that we received from a foreign supplier. Because of the quality issues,
we incurred additional costs to obtain licensed compornents from a domestic supplier. The increases in the cost
of goods sold of other materials resulted from increased sales of low margin materials (such as magnet and
spacer materials) that we sell to our licensees as an additional service.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses were
$1,907,034 for 2004, compared to $2,299,750 for 2003, a decrease of $392,716. The decrease in selling, general
and administrative expenses was primarily related to the full-year impact of personnel reductions which were
made in 2003 and decreased occupancy costs due to entering into a new building lease.

Research, Development and Commercial Application Engineering Expenses. Research, development
and commercial application engineering expenses were $472,485 for 2004, compared to $917,610 for 2003, a
decrease of $445,125. The decrease was primarily attributable to costs related to decreased research and
development personnel and decreased occupancy costs.
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In October 2002, we announced cost-cutting initiatives that included significant reductions in research
and development personnel focused on new technologies. In 2003, we continued the cost cutting initiatives and
made further personnel reductions. As part of our reduced research and development activities, we entered
into a new employment agreement with our co-founder and Chief Technology Officer. The new agreement
reduced his salary and time commitment to InPlay by 50% and goes through December 2007. We have
created a portfolio of patented and patent-pending technologies which are available through our licensees. The
efforts of our remaining personnel will continue to be directed at commercializing our technologies as opposed
to also focusing on the creation of new technologies. They will continue to support our licensees in their efforts
to commercialize our existing patented and patent-pending technologies.

Loss from Operations. As a result of the recognition of the Delphi minimum royalty revenue and the
decreases in selling, general and administrative expenses and research, development and commercial
application engineering expenses, loss from operations decreased to $810,013 for the year ended December 31,
2004, compared to $2,560,752 for the year ended December 31, 2003, a decrease of $1,750,739.

Impairment Loss on Note Receivable. On April 21, 2004 we entered into an agreement to acquire all of
the shares of Active Recognition Technologies, Inc., a privately held developer and licensor of vehicle and
license plate recognition software. We were not required to close the transaction unless ART achieved
$400,000 of net revenue and $100,000 average EBIT for two consecutive fiscal quarters prior to July 31, 2005.
ART did not satisfy either of these conditions. During the twelve months following the execution of the
agreement, we committed to provide funding to ART, up to a maximum of $500,000, in the form of
convertible debt. The debt bears interest at 5% per annum, matures April 2006, and is secured by a first
priority lien on all assets of ART. At December 31, 2004, we had advanced $390,000 under the loan. The
remaining $110,000 was advanced during the first quarter of 2005.

ART did not achieve the revenue or EBIT levels which are required as a condition of closing. We also
believed that there was no assurance that ART would achieve positive cash flow or obtain additional financing
that would allow it to repay the convertible debt or allow ART to continue as a going concern for the next
twelve months. As a result, we recorded an impairment loss for the year ending December 31, 2004 for the
total commitment of $500,000. We have no commitment to fund ART operations beyond the $500,000.

Interest and Other Income-Net. Interest and other income-net was $37,935 for 2004 compared to
$10,191 for 2003, an increase of $27,744.

Net Loss. The decrease of $1,278,483 or 50% in the net loss to $1,272,078 for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from $2,550,561 for the year ended December 31, 2003 was primarily a result of the
recognition of the Delphi minimum royalty revenue, decreased selling, general and administrative expenses
and decreased research, development-and commercial application engineering expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During December 2005, we completed a private placement of our common stock and warrants with a few
institutional investors. We raised net proceeds of approximately $3.1 million after payment of placement agent
commissions and other offering expenses.

Following the offering, and as of December 31, 2005, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
$4.0 million. Additionally, we had a $400,000 restricted short-term certificate of deposit which was pledged as
collateral for a standby letter of credit.

Net cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2005 was approximately
$600,000. The cash used in operating activities was used primarily to fund the working capital requirements of
FinePoint.

Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2005 was approximately
$1.2 million. Our net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to cash paid at closing to settle
liabilities assumed in our acquisition of FinePoint and to our purchase of a short-term certificate of deposit
which was pledged as collateral for a standby letter of credit.
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Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2005 was approximately
$3 million and consisted primarily of net proceeds from the completion of a private placement of our common
stock and warrants, offset by principal payments onl‘icapital leases and notes payable.

Our license agreement with Delphi required Delphi to pay us minimum royalty payments totaling
$12 million during 2004 through 2007. The first $1: million minimum royalty payment was earned effective
June 30, 2004 and was received in July 2004. The second payment of $2 million was recognized as revenue on
June 30, 2005 and was received in July 2005. Subsequent payments were due as follows: $3 million in July
2006; and $6 million due in July 2007. On October $, 2005 Delphi filed for reorganization under Chapter 11.
On October 27, 2005, the bankruptcy court acceptedi a revised order agreeing to the cancellation of the license
agreement effective October 17, 2005. We currently intend to pursue damages for cancellation of the license
agreement. The ultimate outcome of our claims in bankruptcy court cannot be determined at this time.
Bankruptcy laws allow for a 90 day look back, from filing date, at cash payments for preferential treatment.
The $2 million payment to us was within this time period. We believe that the payment will not have to be
returned as it was made m the ordinary course of business and was made according to the terms of the
licensing agreement.

On September 1, 2005, we acquired all of the outstanding common shares of privately held FinePoint, a
developer of patented digital computing pen solutions for tablet PCs and peripherals. The results of
FinePoint’s operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since that date. The
aggregate purchase price was $1,360,479, 1nclud1ng 567,611 shares of unregistered common stock valued at
$800,331, $161,937 cash advance converted into FinePoint equity, $309,761 of cash paid at closing to settle
assumed liabilities, and $169,522 of acquisition costs net of a $81,072 reversal of our valuation allowance
related to the net deferred tax liability acquired from FinePoint. The value of the unregistered common stock
issued was determined based on the average market price of the our common shares over the period beginning
two days before the terms of the acquisition were agreed to and ending two days after the announcement of the
agreement.

In connection with our acquisition of FinePoint, we obtained a six-month renewable $400,000 standby
letter of credit related to the contract manufacturing of FinePoint’s products. We were required to pledge a
certificate of deposit in the amount of $400,000 as collateral for the standby letter of credit. In the event that
we do not pay the invoices for the production of the FinePoint products on the agreed upon terms of net 30,
the contract manufacturer may draw upon the letter of credit. As of December 31, 2005, no amounts have
been drawn against the letter of credit.

At December 31, 2005, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of
$22.1 million which expire in 2011 through 2024 and net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax
purposes of $15.0 million which expire 2006 through 2010.

We have experienced significant operating losses since our inception. We believe that our cash on hand
will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for at least
12 months. However, our capital expenditures and working capital requirements could increase depending on
our operating results and other adjustments to our operating plan as may be needed to respond to competition
or unexpected events. We continually evaluate our working capital needs and we may seek to obtain additional
working capital through debt or equity offerings. There can be no assurance that additional funds will be
available on acceptable terms. In the event that additional funds are not available on acceptable terms, we
could be required to reduce the scope of or cease operations.

Other than disclosed. herein, we have no special purpose entities or off balance sheet financing
arrangements, commitments, or guarantees other that certain long-term operating lease arrangements for our
facilities and short-term purchase order commitments to our suppliers. At December 31, 2005, we had a
$92,000 commitment for tooling related to volume production of the PushGate Island magnets which was
built to our specifications. The commitment will be reduced by each component part which is sold by the
vendor and any remaining commitment will be paid in 2008.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs — An amendment of ARB 43,
Chapter 4. SFAS No. 151 amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the
accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material
{(spoilage). We are required to adopt the statement effective for inventory costs incurred beginning January 1,
2006. We do not expect that this standard will have a material effect on its financial position or results of
operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment. SFAS No. 123(R)
requires that the cost of share-based payments be recognized as expense in the financial statements based on
the fair value of the equity or liability instruments used. Currently, we are required to disclose the effect on
earnings per share if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation, of expensing. We are required to adopt the statement effective January 1, 2006.
The impact on us will be determined by several factors including the number of shares or options granted, our
stock price, and the volatility of our stock. We will use the modified prospective transition method, utilizing
the Black-Scholes option pricing model for the calculation of the fair value of our employee stock options.
Under the modified prospective method, stock option awards that are granted, modified or settled after
January 1, 2006 will be measured and accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). All outstanding
options at December 31, 2005 were fully vested.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets-an amendment
of APB Opinion No. 29. The guidance in APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions, is
based on the principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the
assets exchanged. The guidance in that Opinion, however, included certain exceptions to that principle.
SFAS 153 amends Opinion 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive
assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have
commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the
entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. We are required to adopt the statement
effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring beginning January 1, 2006. We do not expect that this
standard will have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a
replacement of APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and SPAS No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes
in Interim Financial Statements. SFAS No. 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle, and
changes the requirements for accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. SFAS No. 154
requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of a voluntary change in accounting
principle unless it is impracticable, whereas APS Opinion No. 20 previously required that most voluntary
changes in accounting principle be recognized by including in net income of the period of the change the
cumulative effect of changing to the new accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2005. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 154 to have a material effect
on its results of operations and financial position.
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Item 7. Financial Statements

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors
InPlay Technologies, Inc.
Mesa, Arizona

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of InPlay Technologies, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audit“s in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our
audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. :

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of InPlay Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/  DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
March 15, 2006
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INPLAY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2005 and 2004

2005 2004
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents .......... ... .. o i iiiiiiiiiiniinon. $ 4,022,734 $ 2,832,455
Restricted short-term investment . .......... ... ..o 400,000 —
Accounts receivable . ... .. 1,460,169 48,601
Inventory (NOte 5) ...t e e 1,311,077 217,083
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ........ .. ..o, 87,071 83,470
Total CUITENt ASSELS . o vt vt e et e e e et 7,281,051 3,181,609
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT — Net (Note 7) .................... 557,145 198,589
GOODWILL ... e 1,321,240 443874
PATENTS — Net (Note 8) ...t 1,389,153 777,013
OTHER ASSETS (INOt€ 6) ..ottt e e 19,299 66,297
T OT AL $10,567,888 $ 4,667,382
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS®’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable . ... .. $ 1,496,780 $ 59,674
Accrued salaries and benefits ... ... ... 510,794 187,289
Other accrued expenses and other current liabilities (Note 6) .......... 539,786 242,045
Deferred licensing and other revenue (Note 9) ....................... 82,879 485,254
Current portion of notes payable and capital leases payable (Note 10) ... 165,914 —
Total current liabilities ............ . . i 2,796,153 974,262
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Other non-current labilities . ... ... ... i i 11,465 18,486
Deferred licensing — long-term (Note 9) ............. ... ..., — 546,257
Total long-term liabilities ............. SO 11,465 564,743
Total Habilities .. ... o 2,807,618 1,539,005
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 4 and 17)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Notes 11 and 12)
Preferred stock, no par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, no shares
issued and outstanding in 2005 and 2004 ............ ... . ... ... ... — —
Common stock, $.001 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized in 2005
and 2004, 11,481,512 and 9,614,673 shares issued and outstanding in
2005 and 2004, respectively ........ ... i 11,482 9,615
Additional paid-in capital .......... .. .. ... . 31,373,292 27,410,916
Accumulated deficit. .. ... ... . (23,624,504)  (24,292,154)
Total stockholders’ equity ......... ...t 7,760,270 3,128,377
T O AL L $10,567,888 $ 4,667,382

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

2005 2004 2003
NET REVENUE: i
Duraswitch related party — Delphi (Note 9) ... .......... $2,955,118 $ 1,407,978 $§ 409,753
Duraswitch non-related parties. ............... e 469,311 349,075 350,159
FinePoint. . ... ... . 3,031,115 — —
Total netrevenue .............0 i, 6,455,544 1,757,053 759,912
COST OF GOODS SOLD: |
Duraswitch . ... .o i e 253,105 187,547 103,304
FinePoint. ... ... ... ... .. . it i 2,224,266 — —
Total cost of goods sold. ............ ... ... ... L. 2,477,371 187,547 103,304
Gross profit . . ... ... e 3,978,173 1,569,506 656,608
OPERATING EXPENSES: '
Selling, general and administrative ........... .......... 2,720,900 1,907,034 2,299,750
Research, development and commercial application
ENZINEETING . ... ... it 641,047 472,485 917,610
Total Operating eXpPenses . . .. .........coeeureeenenn.n. 3,361,947 2,379,519 3,217,360
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS................ 616,226 (810,013)  (2,560,752)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE): ‘

Impairment loss on note receivable (Note 6) ............. — (500,000) —
Interest and other income —net ............. G 51,424 37,935 10,191
NET INCOME (LOSS) ...t $ 667,650 $(1,272,078) $(2,550,561)

NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE,

BASIC ... . e $ 007 § (0.13) § (0.27)
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE,

DILUTED ........... SR e $ 007 § (0.13) $ (0.27)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING,

BASIC ... e T, 9,823,637 9,603,717 9,591,090
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING,

DILUTED ... feeeeee 9,903,485 9,603,717 9,591,090

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INPLAY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2002 ...
Employee stock options exercised . . . .
Issuance of stock for services
Net loss

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2003 ...
Employee stock options exercised . . ..
Netloss ... i,

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2004 ...

Shares issued for acquisition of
FinePoint ......................

Shares and warrants issued in private
offering........... .. ... L.

Employee stock options exercised . . ..
Netincome ......................

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2005 ...

Additional

Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated ‘

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total
9,534,195 $ 9,534 $27,317,314 $(20,469,515) $ 6,857,333
22,696 23 26,200 — 26,223
34,782 35 39,965 — 40,000
— — — (2,550,561) (2,550,561)
9,591,673 9,592 27,383,479  (23,020,076) 4,372,9§5
23,000 23 27,437 — 27,460
— — — _ (1,272078) _(1,272,078)
9,614,673 9,615 27,410,916  (24,292,154) 3,128,377
567,611 567 799,764 — 800,331
1,272,728 1,273 3,132,468 — 3,133,741
26,500 27 30,144 — 30,171
— — — 667,650 667,650
11,481,512 §$11,482 $31,373,292 §(23,624,504) $ 7,760,270

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INPLAY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

2005 2004 2003
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
NEt ICOME (10S5) «« - v+t e eeeeee e e e e e e $ 667,650 $(1,272,078) $(2,550,561)
AdJustments to reconcile net loss 1o net cash used in operatmg
activities: ,
Depreciation and amortization .................. ..ol 282,879 214,535 421,779
. Impairment loss on note receivable ............. e — 500,000
Issuance of stock forservices ............. .. v, — — 40,000
(Gain) loss on disposal of equipment ........... e - (12,335) 8,932
Write down of inventory . ... ... ... .. i 31,000 —_ 22,000
Changes in operating assets and liabilities; net of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed:
Accounts receivable . ................ . ... e (1,347,081) 1,162 (38,572)
Inventory ...... .o [ (582,935) (45,561) (607)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. ... .. e F 16,894 43914 61,874
Other assets ...oovevie i P — (1,224) —
Accounts payable ......... ... ... ... ... e 1,016,187 (13,778) 49,519
Accrued salaries and benefits ................ T, 275,374 24,472 (337,596)
Other accrued expenses and other current liabilities ........... 55,635 (32,424) (67,504)
Other non-current liabilities ............................ ... (7,021) (11,201) (7,063)
Deferred licensing revenue .................. T (993,212) (400,160) (393,733)
Net cash used in operating activities . ..................... (584,630) (1,004,678) (2,791,532)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES;
Acquisition of FinePoint ......... ... ... ... ... (527,347) — —
Purchase of restricted short- term investment ......... e (400,000) — —
Funding of note receivable ........................ T (110,000) (390,000) —
Increase in patents ............. ... it P (38,803) (35,619) (90,255)
Proceeds from sale of equipment ................... LR — 17,549 137,230
Purchases of property and equipment ............... e (109,099) (31,022) (43,537)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities............ (1,185,249) (439,092) 3,438
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net proceeds from issuance of stock ................ F 3,196,007 — —
Net proceeds from exercise of employee stock options . ............. 30,171 27,460 26,223
Principal payments on capital leases and notes payable ............. (266,020) (8,213) (18,110)
Net cash provided by financing activities ...... [ 2,960,158 19,247 8,113
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,190,279 (1,424,3523)  (2,779,981)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR ..... 2,832,455 4,256,978 7,036,959
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR ............. $ 4,022,734 § 2,832455 § 4,256,978
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH ACTIVITIES:
Fair value of FinePoint Innovations, Inc. assets acquircd ............. $ 2,824,282
Less consideration given:
Cash advances converted into FinePoint Innovations, Inc equity .... 161,937
Cash paid at closing in settlement of certain assumed liabilities, net
ofcashacquired ........ ... .. ... ... 309,761
Acquisition costs. . ... ... e 169,522
Unregistered common stock issued ............................. 800,331
Reversal of valuation allowance on the Company’s dcferred tax assets (81,072)
Liabilities assumed, net of payments ................0............. $ 1,463,803
Cash paid forinterest ........ ... ... . . i $ 11651 § 555 % 2,714
Fees accrued in connection with the issuance of stock ............... $ 62,266

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31,
2005, 2004, and 2003

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

InPlay Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) develops, markets and licenses patented enabling technolo-
gies. The Company’s current technologies include the Duraswitch® electronic pushbutton, rotary, and omni-
directional switch technologies and the FinePoint MagicPoint® computing pen technology.

The Company has developed, patented, and licensed innovative technologies utilizing a magnetic-based
design for electronic switches under the Duraswitch brand name. The Company is currently expanding the use
of these technologies by licensing manufacturers to produce and sell products using its technologies.

During September 2005, the Company acquired FinePoint Innovations (Note 3), a developer of digital
computing pen technology. The Company markets FinePoint’s MagicPoint digitizer and pen products to
manufacturers of convertible notebooks and tablet PCs.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. The following paragraphs summarize the significant
accounting policies followed by the Company in the preparation of its financial statements.

Principles of Consolidation.  All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated
in consolidation.

Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with maturities
of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Inventory. Inventory is carried at the lower of cost, determined using the FIFO (“first-in, first-out™)
method, or market. The Company writes down its inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable
inventory to the extent the cost exceeds the estimated market value. The Company bases the estimate on its
assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than
those assumed in its estimates, additional inventory write-downs might be required. The Company reflects any
write-down of inventory in the period in which the facts giving rise to the inventory write-down become known
to it.

Property and Equipment. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the useful lives
of the related assets as follows:

COmMPULEr SOfTWATE . . . o o ittt e 3 years
Computer SQUIPIMIENT . . . oo vttt ettt ettt it e et et 3 to 5 years
TO0lIng . o e e 5 to 7 years
Other machinery and equipment ............. .ttt iiiinieiennnn... 5 years
Office furniture and fIXTUTes . ... ... oo e e 7 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of their estimated useful life or the term of the
lease.

Patents. Patents are reported at cost, net of accumulated amortization, and are amortized using the
straight-line method over the estimated life of twenty years for Duraswitch patents and eight years for
FinePoint patents.
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Goodwill. The Company tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis (December 31) or on an
interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change that would reduce the fair value of a reporting unit
below its carrying value, The Company first compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying
amount, including goodwill. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of a reporting
unit, additional tests would be used to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The Company uses a
present value technique to measure reporting unit fair value. If other events occur and circumstances change,
causing the fair value of a reporting unit to fall below its carrying amount, impairment losses may be
recognized in the future. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company performed its annual impairment
test in December 2005 and found no impairment in its existing goodwill balances.

Revenue Recognition. Qur Duraswitch segment enters into licensing agreements with our customers.
Our licensing agreements require the licensee to purchase licensed components from us. The purchase price of
the licensed components includes the royalty fee. When the components are shipped, we recognize revenue
and cost of goods sold. In cases where no licensed components are supplied, we are paid a royalty per switch
manufactured by the licensee and we recognize revenue in the period the switch is manufactured. In the case
of the Delphi minimum royalty payments, we recognized revenue as it was earned on June 30 of each
applicable year. ‘

Some of our licensees have prepaid royalties to us pursuant to their license agreements. These
prepayments are recorded as deferred licensing revenue. This deferred revenue is recognized as revenue when
earned under the licensing agreement. If a licensee purchases a licensed component from us, the royalty is
earned when the licensed component is shipped. If the licensee directly manufactures our switches without
purchasing licensed components from us, we consider the royalty earned when the switch is manufactured. In
the case of our exclusive license agreement with Delphi, the up-front payment was nonrefundable and the
portion of the $4.0 million payment allocated to deferfed revenue was being amortized over the initial seven-
year term of the agreement. Our license agreement with Delphi required Delphi to pay us minimum royalty
payments totaling $12 million during the initial termending June 30, 2007. The first payment of $1 million
was recognized as revenue on June 30, 2004 and was received in July 2004. The second payment of $2 million
was recognized as revenue on June 30, 2005 and was received in July 2005. On October 8, 2005, Delphi filed
for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection. On October 27, 2005 the bankruptcy court cancelled the Delphi
agreement, effective October 17, 2005. In the fourth quarter of 2005, $648,083 of deferred revenue related to
the Delphi license agreement was recognized as revenue as the license agreement was terminated.

Our FinePoint segment manufactures digital computing pens and digitizers for the convertible notebook
and tablet PC market. The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed and determinable and collectibility is probable. Generally, all of these
conditions are met at the time the Company delivers products to customers.

Stock-Based Compensation. At December 31, 2005, the Company had four stock-based employee
compensation plans which are described more fully in Note 12. SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, encourages, but does not require, companies to record as compensation expense, over the
vesting period, the fair value of all stock-based awards on the date of grant. The Company elected to account
for these plans using the intrinsic value method of accounting prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting
Jor Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation cost is
reflected in the Company’s operating results, as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price
equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of all stock
option grants is estimated on the date of grant in accordance with SFAS No. 123 using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following assumptions: an expected risk-free interest rate of 3.7 to 4.4 percent,
3.1 percent, and 2.4 percent for options granted in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, an expected life of three
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years, an expected volatility rate of 75 to 87 percent, 84 percent, and 80 percent for options granted in 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively, and an expected dividend rate of zero percent. The following table illustrates the
effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions
of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based employee compensation:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Net income (loss), as reported .................... $ 667,650 $(1,272,078) $(2,550,561)
Less: Total stock-based employee expense determined

under fair value based method for all awards, no tax .

effect. . .. (463,690) (147,953) (234,265)
Pro forma net income (loss) ...................... $ 203,960 $(1,420,031) $(2,784,826)
Income (loss) per share:

Basic and diluted, as reported ................... $ 007 § (0.13) § (0.27)

Basic and diluted, pro forma .................. .08 002 8§ (0.15) § (0.29)

Income Taxes. Deferred taxes are provided on temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and income tax purposes. The valuation allowance reduces deferred
tax assets to an amount that represents the Company’s best estimate of the amount of such deferred tax assets
that, more likely than not, will be realized.

Income (Loss) Per Common Share. Basic income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net
income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding plus the effect of any stock options or warrants if they are dilutive. In 2005, 829,756 shares were
excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due to their dilutive effect. All stock options and
warrants were anti-dilutive in 2004 and 2003 and totaled 1,030,556 and 1,467,440 at December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

2005
Weighted average shares outstanding — Basic ...... S 9,823,637
Effect of dilutive stock options. ........................ S 79,848
Weighted average shares outstanding — Fully diluted. .......................... 9,903,485

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of. The Company reviews its
long-lived assets and identifiable intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. If such assets were considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized would be measured by the amount by which the carrying amount
of the assets exceeds the fair market value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of
the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

The Company evaluates the recoverability of property and equipment and intangibles not held for sale by
comparing the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets against the estimated undiscounted future net
cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset or group of assets. If the undiscounted estimated cash
flows are less than the carrying value of the asset or group of assets being reviewed, an impairment loss would
be recorded. The loss would be measured based on the estimated fair value of the asset or group of assets
compared to cost. The estimated fair value would be based on the best information available under the
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circumstances, including prices for similar assets and the results of valuation techniques, including the present
value of expected future cash flows using a discount rate commensurate with the risks involved. The
Company’s long-lived assets were tested for impairment at December 31, 2005 and no impairment was found.

New Accounting Pronouncements. In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory
Costs — An amendment of ARB 43, Chapter 4. SFAS No. 151 amends the guidance in ARB No. 43,
Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense,
freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). The Company is required to adopt the statement
effective for inventory costs: incurred beginning January 1, 2006. The Company does not expect that this
standard will have a material effect on its financial position or results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment. SFAS No. 123(R)
requires that the cost of share-based payments be recognized as expense in the financial statements based on
the fair value of the equity or liability instruments used. Currently, the Company is required to disclose the
effect on earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, of expensing. The Company is required to adopt
the statement effective January 1, 2006. The impact on the Company will be determined by several factors
including the number of shares or options granted, our stock price, and the volatility of our stock. The
Company will use the modified prospective transition method, utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing
model for the calculation of the fair value of its employee stock options. Under the modified prospective
method, stock option awards that are granted, modified or settled after January 1, 2006 will be measured and
accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). All outstanding options at December 31, 2005 were fully
vested. ‘

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets-an amendment
of APB Opinion No. 29. The guidance in APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions, is
based on the principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the
assets exchanged. The guidance in that Opinion, however, included certain exceptions to that principle.
SFAS 153 amends Opinion 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive
assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have
commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the
entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. The Company is required to adopt the
statement effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring beginning January 1, 2006. The Company does
not expect that this standard will have a material effect on its financial position or results of operations.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a
replacement of APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and SPAS No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes
in Interim Financial Statements. SFAS No. 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle, and
changes the requirements for accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. SFAS No. 154
requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of a voluntary change in accounting
principle unless it is impracticable, whereas APS Opinion No. 20 previously required that most voluntary
changes in accounting principle be recognized by including in net income of the period of the change the
cumulative effect of changing to the new accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 154 to have a
material effect on its results of operations and financial position.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable and accounts payable and notes payable approximate fair values due to the short-term maturities of
these instruments. The fair value of capital leases approximates the carrying value of these instruments
because the terms are similar to those in the marketplace under which they could be replaced.
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Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America necessarily requires the Company to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

3. ACQUISITION OF FINEPOINT INNOVATIONS, INC.

On September 1, 2005, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common shares of privately held
FinePoint Innovations, Inc. (“FinePoint”) a developer of patented digital computing pen solutions for tablet
PCs and computer peripherals. The results of FinePoint’s operations have been included in the consolidated
financial statements since that date. The primary purpose of this acquisition was to expand the Company’s
portfolio of proprietary technologies.

The aggregate purchase price was $1,360,479, including 567,611 shares of unregistered common stock
valued at $800,331, $161,937 cash advance converted into FinePoint equity, $309,761 of cash paid at closing
to settle certain assumed liabilities, and $169,522 of acquisition costs net of a $81,072 reversal of the
Company’s valuation allowance related to a net deferred tax liability acquired from FinePoint. The value of
the unregistered common stock issued was determined based on the average market price of the Company’s
common shares over the period beginning two days before the terms of the acquisition were agreed to and
ending two days after the announcement of the agreement.

If FinePoint achieves at least $3.2 million of accumulated earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”)
through December 31, 2007, former FinePoint shareholders will be entitled to receive an earn-out payment
and the purchase price will be modified. If the Company’s average stock price for the ten trading days before
December 31, 2007 (“Stock Price”) is less than or equal to $5.00 per share, the maximum value of the earn-
out consideration is $946,000 upon FinePoint’s achievement of $4.0 million or more EBIT. The earn-out
payment is payable first in up to 360,000 shares of the Company’s unregistered common stock and the balance
is payable in cash. If the Company’s Stock Price is greater than $5.00, the maximum earn-out consideration is
$1,419,000 of unregistered common stock and no cash upon the achievement of $4.0 million or more EBIT.
The earn-out payment will be pro-rated based on the amount of EBIT achieved. If EBIT is $3.2 million, the
earn-out payment will be 80% of the maximum. If EBIT is $4.0 million, or more, the earn-out payment will be
100% of the maximum.
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the date of the acquisition. The allocation of the purchase price was based, in part, upon an independent
valuation of intangible assets and our estimates and assumptions:

FinePoint Innovations
at September 1, 2005

Current assets.......... T, e $ 636,103
Deferred tax asset ...... L e 261,200
Property, plant and equipment . .............. .. oo 391,005
3 S e 650,000
Goodwill ... e 877,366
Other non CUITent asSetS . ... ...\t i it it e e et 8,608

Total assets acquired . ............. 2 2,824,282
Current Habilities . . ... oo i e 1,115,848
Deferred tax liability ........................ ....................... 342,272
Long-term portion of capital lease............. N 5,683

Total liabilities assumed, net of payments ........................... 1,463,803

Net assets acquired . . e e $1,360,479

Of the $660,000 of intangible assets acquired which are subject to amortization, $650,000 was assigned to
patents which have an estimated useful life of approximately eight years and $10,000 was assigned to the order
backlog which has an estimated useful life of six months The $877,366 of goodwill was assigned to the
FinePoint segment. ! ;

The operations of FinePoint are included in ‘the Company’s results of operations beginning on
September 1, 2005, the acquisition date. The factors résulting in goodwill were FinePoint’s name, reputation,
and established key personnel. None of the goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.

The accompanying consolidated pro forma information gives effect to the FinePoint acquisition as if it
had occurred on January 1, 2005 and its results of operations were included in the year ended December 31,
2005 for the full period. The pro forma information is'included only for purposes of illustration and does not
necessarily indicate what the Company’s operating results would have been had the acquisition of FinePoint
been completed on January 1, 2005,

Twelve Months Ended Twelve Months Ended

: December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
Revenue.............. UTTRTIRITRR S $6,758,919 § 2,901,763
Net income (loss) .. ... [ PR $ 2907 $(1,611,411)
Income (loss) per share, ‘basic and diluted . . . .. L $ 0.00 $ (0.16)

4. CONCENTRATIONS

The Company maintained its cash and cash equivalents in three financial institutions at December 31,
2005. At December 31, 2005, the Company maintainéd cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions in
excess of federal depository insurance. ;
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In 2005, sales to Quanta represented 44 percent of net revenue and amounted to $2,858,805. In 2005,
2004, and 2003, Delphi represented 46 percent, 80 percent, and 54 percent of net revenue, respectively. In
2005, net revenue from Delphi was $2,955,118 and included $2.0 million related to the recognition of the
second minimum royalty payment and recognition of deferred licensing revenue which was recorded in 2000.
In 2004, net revenue from Delphi was $1,407,978 and included $1.0 million related to the recognition of the
first minimum royalty payment and recognition of deferred licensing revenue which was recorded in 2000. In
2003, net revenue from Delphi was $409,753.

At December 31, 2005, Quanta represented 81 percent of accounts receivable.

5. INVENTORY

The Company’s inventory is primarily comprised of certain raw materials that are used in the
manufacture of digital pens and digitizers and licensed components and finished goods which are primarily
pens and digitizers that are in transit to the customer.

Inventory consists of the following at December 31:

2005 2004
Raw materials .. ..ot e $ 705,602 $217,083
Finished goods. ... .. i 605,475 —
InVentory ... $1,311,077  $217,083

6. NOTE RECEIVABLE FROM ACTIVE RECOGNITION TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

On April 21, 2004 the Company entered into an agreement to acquire all of the shares of Active
Recognition Technologies, Inc. (“ART”), a privately held developer and licensor of vehicle and license plate
recognition software. As a condition of closing, ART was required to achieve certain revenue and average
earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”) milestones for two consecutive fiscal quarters prior to July 31,
2005. ART did not achieve the required revenue and EBIT levels, The Company will not close the acquisition
on the previously announced terms.

During the twelve months following the execution of the agreement, the Company committed to provide
funding to ART, up to a maximum of $500,000, in the form of convertible debt. The debt bears interest at
5% per annum, matures April 2006, and is secured by a first priority lien on all assets of ART. At
December 31, 2004, the Company had a $390,000 note receivable from ART and had accrued the remaining
$110,000 commitment. During the first quarter of 2005, the Company advanced the final $110,000 to ART.

At December 31, 2005, the Company had advanced $500,000 under the loan. The note will not be
converted into ART’s capital stock and is payable in cash.

The Company believed that there was no assurance that ART would achieve positive cash flow or obtain
additional financing that would allow it to repay the convertible debt and accrued interest or allow ART to
continue as a going concern for the next twelve months. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment loss
for the year ending December 31, 2004 for the total note receivable of $500,000 and has not recognized
interest income on the note receivable. The Company has no commitment to fund ART operations beyond the
$500,000.
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7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following at December 31:

: 2005 2004
Computer equipment and software ............ ... ... .. $ 720,978 § 443,495
Tooling . ....oviti i 310,121 120,228
Other machinery and equipment............. e 219,555 208,613
Leasehold iMProvements .. ..............ovueeurrnennaenoenin.. 133,743 133,743
Office furniture and fixtures . .......... . it 90,514 71,377
Total . ... e R S 1,474,911 977,456
Accumulated depreciation .......... .. .. o e L (917,766)  (778,867)
Property and equipment —net ............. . . $ 557,145 § 198,589

Depreciation expense for property and equipment was $141,608, $ 143,317, and $353,833, respectively, for
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003.

8. PATENTS !

Amortization expense for patents was $76,663, $47,790, and $44.518 for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The estimated amomzatlon expense for existing patents is approximately
$130,000 for each of the next five years.

The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of pafents are as follows:
|

2005 2004
[
Patents. ... .o.ovueriia e L $1,699,474  $1,010,671
Accumulated amortization ............. ... ... . (310,321) (233,658)

Patents — et ....... TP e $1,389,153 § 777,013

9. DEFERRED LICENSING REVENUE : |

In April 2000, the Company entered into a license agreement with Delphi Corporation (“Delphi”), that
gave Delphi the exclusive right to utilize and manufacture the Compahy’s patented switch technologies for the
automotive industry. In connection with the license agreement, the Company also issued a warrant to Delphi
to purchase 225,000 shares of common stock at $7.00 per} share and a short-term option to
purchase 1,651,846 shares of unregistered common stock at $7.00 per share. In exchange, Delphi paid the
Company a non-refundable payment of $4 million and agreed to pay a royalty fee for each switch sold by
Delphi. The term of the exclusive license agreement was seven years. The agreement also required Delphi to
make minimum royalty payments totaling $12 million during the 1n1tga1 term ending June 30, 2007. The first
payment of $1 million was recognized as revenue on June 30, 2004 and was received in July 2004. The second
payment of $2 million was recognized as revenue on June 30, 2005 fand was received in July 2005.

The estimated fair value of the warrant and the option was $1,}34,338, as determined using the Black-
Scholes valuation model. The option was exercised in June 2000 and the warrant expired in April 2004. The
remaining value of the non-refundable payment,’ totaling $2,865,§62, was recorded as deferred licensing
revenue and was being amortized over the initial seven-year term of the exclusive license agreement.
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On October 8, 2005, Delphi filed for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. On
October 27, 2005, the bankruptcy court accepted a revised order agreeing to the cancellation of the license
agreement effective October 17, 2005. In the fourth quarter of 2005, $648,083 of deferred revenue related to
the Delphi license agreement was recognized as revenue as the license agreement was terminated.

10. NOTES PAYABLE AND CAPITAL LEASES

Notes payable consisted of the following at December 31, 2005:
December 31, 2005

Note payable to former shareholder of FinePoint, interest at 5% per annum,
due and paid in January 2006 .. ... ... $107,867

Note payable to former shareholder of FinePoint, interest at 8% per annum,
due on a quarterly quarterly basis from FinePoint cash flow, but no later

than August 2009 ........ ... ... ool e 45,810
Note payable to bank, interest at 7.5% per annum, due January 2006 ........ 3,131
TOtal L 156,808
Less current pOrtion. .. ... v vttt it e e e e 156,808
Long-term notes payable. .. ... ..o e $ —

The Company has property and equipment with a gross value of $11,678 and a net book value of $10,380
under a capital lease. The amortization of fixed assets acquired with capital leases is included in depreciation
expense. At December 31, 2005, the present values of future minimum capital lease payments are as follows:

Lease payments due in 2006 ... ... ... e $10,536
Lessinterest at 12,500 . . oottt 1,430
Present value of minimum capital lease obligations .............. ...t 9,106
Less current portion of capital lease obligations ............... ... i, 9,106
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations......... ... .. ... .o iiiiiiinnn... § —

11. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock. In 2003, the Company issued 34,782 shares at a value of $40,000 in exchange for
consulting services. During December 2003, the Company completed a private offering of 1,272,728 shares of
its common stock and 381,818 warrants with an exercise price of $3.44 per share. Net proceeds from the
offering were $3,133,741.

Preferred Stock. As of December 31, 2005, no preferred stock is outstanding. The Company’s Board of
Directors is authorized, subject to any limitations prescribed by Nevada law, but without further action by the
stockholders, to provide for the issuance of serial preferred stock in one or more series; to establish from time
to time the number of shares to be included in these series; to fix the designations, powers, preferences, and
rights of the shares of each such series and any qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof; and to
increase or decrease the number of shares of any such series, but not below the number of shares of such series
then outstanding, without any further vote or action by the stockholders. The Board of Directors may
authorize and issue serial preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting
power or other rights of the holders of common stock.
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Warrants. On April 20, 2000, the Company sold a warrant to belphi to purchase 225,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $7.00 per share. This warrant e):(pired on April 20, 2004.

In connection with the public offering that closed in Septembér 1999, the underwriter was granted
warrants to purchase 200,000 shares of common stock at an exercise pncc of $8.25 per share. These warrants
expired on August 26, 2004.

In connection with the private offering that closed in December 2003, the buyers were granted warrants
to purchase 381,818 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $3/44 per share. These warrants expire on
December 27, 2010. The underwriters were granted warrants to purchase 127,273 shares of common stock at
an exercise price of $4.22 per share. These warrants expire on December 27, 2010. In the event the closing
price of our common stock equals or exceeds $5.50 per share for a period of 60 consecutive trading days, the
Company may redeem the warrants issued to the investors for $0.01 per warrant upon notice to the warrant
holders. ’

A summary of changes in outstanding warrants is as follows:

Warrants Price Range
Balance, December 31, 2002 ............... e 472,059  $3.19-$8.25
Issued ... .. e —
Exercised ..........ui i P (47,059) $ 3.19
Balance, December 31,2003 ............... S 425,000  $7.00-$8.25
Issued..............;..,. ................ e e —
Exercised ... e —
Expired . ... e (425,000) $7.00-$8.25
Balance, December 31,2004 .............. ..................... —
Tssued ... .o e 509,091  $3.44-%$4.22
ExXercised .. ...t e e e —
Expired ............ T R —
Balance, December 31,2005 .............. e 509,091  $3.44-$4.22

12, STOCK OPTION PLANS

Effective May 1, 1997, the Board of Directors approved a stock option plan (the “1997 Option Plan”).
This plan provides for the granting of incentive and nonqualified stock options to officers, directors and
employees of the Company. The plan also provides for the granting of nonqualified stock options to any
director, consultant or other individual whose participation the Board of Directors determines to be in the best
interest of the Company. The number of shares authorized for options under the 1997 Option Plan is 823,535.

The Company’s 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Option Plan”) was adopted by the Company’s Board
of Directors and was ratified by the stockholders on March 8, 1999. The number of shares of common stock
authorized subject to options under the 1999 Option Plan is 235,294 shares.

The Company’s 2000 Stock Option Plan (the “2000 Option Plan”’) was adopted by the Company’s Board
of Directors and was ratified by the stockholders on June 19, 2000 and was amended on May 20, 2002. The
number of shares of common stock authorized subject to options under the 2000 Option Plan is
500,000 shares.
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The Company’s 2005 Stock Award Plan (the “2005 Option Plan”} was adopted by the Company’s Board
of Directors and was ratified by the stockholders on May 20, 2005. The number of shares of common stock
authorized subject to options under the 2005 Option Plan is 500,000 shares.

The total number of shares available for grant under all four plans is 201,687 at December 31, 2005.

The Company accounts for the fair value of the options issued to non-employees in accordance with
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. The Company did not record compensation cost
during 2005, 2004 and 2003 as no options were granted to non-employees other than to directors during that
time period.

As permitted by SFAS No. 123, the Company has elected to continue to measure cost for its stock-based
compensation plans with employees and directors using the intrinsic value method of accounting prescribed by
APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been
recognized, as the option prices are equal to or greater than fair market value of the stock on the grant dates.

Options granted under all plans expire up to ten years from the date of grant. Options that expire or
terminate prior to exercise are added to the shares available for future grants.

During June 2004, the Company’s Compensation Committee authorized an option exchange with our
CEO. Pursuant to the agreement, options to purchase 50,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of
$10.85 per share previously granted to him were cancelled. During December 2004, the Company granted him
new options to purchase 30,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.05 per share, which was the
market price of the Company’s common stock at the time of the new grant of options. The Company had not
provided him with any oral or written agreement or implied promise to compensate him for increases in the
market price of Company common shares for the period from the date of cancellation of the original options
until the grant of the new options. With respect to the new grant of options during December 2004, the options
were exercisable at the time of grant.

A summary of changes in stock options is as follows:

Weighted

Average

Option Exercise
Shares Price
Balance, December 31,2002 ... ... ... . . . 1,072,699 $9.61
Granted ... o e 156,500 $1.86
Exercised . ... (22,696) $1.16
Expired or terminated. .. ... ... ... . (164,063) $7.19
Balance, December 31, 2003 ... ...\ttt 1,042,440  $9.02
Granted . ... i e 85,000 $2.14
EXeTCiSed ..o e (23,000) $1.19
Expired or terminated. . ... ... . e (73484) $9.17
Balance, December 31, 2004 . .. ... .. . e 1,030,956 $38.61
Granted ... ... e 354,600 $2.36
Exercised ... o e e (26,500) $1.14
Expired or terminated. . ... ... ... e (8,000)  $1.60
Balance, December 31, 2005 ... ... . . 1,351,056 $7.16
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2005 2004 2003
Exercisable at the end of the year .................... 1,351,056 1,030,956 990,940
Weighted average fair value of options granted during the
VEAT . v ettt e e L $ 1.33 § 1.18 § 099

A summary of options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2005 is as follows:

Options Outstanding and Exercisable

Weighted
Average Weighted
Remaining Average
; Options Contractual Exercise
Range of Exercise Price ' QOutstanding Life Price
$0.81- 81,58 . o 297,300 8.3 $ 1.34
$1.83- $3.38. .. 409,500 7.9 $ 257
$6.00-$10.85 ...... e 397,901 4.2 $ 7.07
$13.01-822.31 ... .. T 246,355 2.0 $21.94
$0.81-$22.31 ...... e e e e 1,351,056 58 $ 7.16
INCOME TAXES
Net deferred tax assets consist of the following at December 31:
2005 2004
Deferred tax assets: ‘ .
Operating loss carryforwards.............................. $ 8,418,625 $ 8,363,846
Capitalized research and development...................... 1,190,958 1,193,917
Research and development credits......... F 1,605,265 1,566,156
Deferred licensing revenue ............... e e 33,152 412,604
Note receivable ........................ [ 200,000 200,000
Other . ... i e e o 189,318 135,919
Total ............... P P 11,637,318 11,872,442
Less valuation allowance . .................. b (10,972,874)  (11,542,360)
Total ..o U 664,444 330,082
Deferred tax liabilities: * :
Patents. ...ttt e (555,662) (310,806)
Other. ..ot i e (108,782) (19,276)
Total ............... L AP $ —  $ —

During the years ended December 31, 2005 the Company decreased the valuation allowance by $569,468.
In 2004 and 2003, the Company increased the valuation allowance by $1,201,618, and $1,370,186, respec-
tively, against deferred tax assets. The changes in the valuation allowance recorded in 2005, 2004 and 2003
includes $21,859, $12,164, and $6,146, for net operating loss carryforwards related to stock compensation. In
2005, the change in the valuation allowance includes: a reversal of $81,072 related to the acquisition of the net
deferred tax liability from Finepoint. The benefit of the utilization of this has been recorded to goodwill. The
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benefit of the utilization of these net operating loss carryforwards would be recorded as a credit to additional
paid-in capital. The valuation allowance reduces deferred tax assets to an amount. that represents manage-
ment’s best estimate of the amount of such deferred tax assets that, more likely than not, will be realized.
Realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent upon generating sufficient future taxable income in the
period that temporary differences and carryforwards are expected to be available to reduce taxable income.

The Company has net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of $22.1 million which
expire in 2011 through 2025 and net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes of
$15.0 million which expire 2006 through 2010.

The income tax provision differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the U.S. federal
income tax rate to pretax income for 2005, 2004 and 2003 due to the following:

2005 2004 2003

(Expense) /benefit calculated at statutory rate ....... $(227,001) $ 432,507 $ 867,191
Increase (decrease) in income resulting from:

Research and development and other tax credits . .. 39,101 667,658 353,252

State income taxes, net ............c.iirenn... (38,143) 76,960 153,034

Permanent differences ................. ... ... (10,950) (8,562) (6,735)

Expiration of state net operating loss carryforwards (274,917)

Other, net. ... .. . 1,628 20,891 (2,702)

Valuation allowance .......... .. ... ivinun.. 510,273 (1,189,454) (1,364,040)
Total .o $ - — 3 —

14. SEGMENTS

After completing the acquisition of FinePoint, the Company had two reportable segments at Decem-
ber 31, 2003: Duraswitch and FinePoint. These segments are strategic business units that have different
products and services. The segments are managed separately because each is a distinct and different business
venture. The Duraswitch segment licenses its patented electronic switch technologies to switch manufacturers
and original equipment manufacturers. The FinePoint segment manufactures and markets its digital
computing pen technology to computer manufacturers. The Company acquired the FinePoint segment on
September 1, 2005 and therefore reflects FinePoint’s operating results beginning that date. The accounting
policies of the Company’s segments are the same as those described in the Company’s summary of significant
accounting policies. The Corporate SG&A includes primarily the costs of corporate personnel (including
CEQ, VP, Finance and Administration and VP, Corporate Communications), outside accounting and legal,
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directors and officers insurance énd Board fees. Corporate has the responsibility to maintain the Company’s
public company status and acquire new segments for the Company.

Year Ended December 31, 2005

Duraswitch ‘FinePoint Corporate Total
Revenues................coooiein... $3,424;429  $3,031,115 $ —  $6,455,544
Costof goodssold ................... 253,105 2,224,266 — 2,477,371
Gross profit..........0............ 3,171,324 806,849 — 3,978,173
Selling, general and administrative ..... 710,610 326,475 1,683,815 2,720,900
Research, development and application
engineering . .............c. ..., 431,265 209,782 — 641,047
Income (loss) from operations......... $2,029.449 § 270,592 $(1,683,815) § 616,226
j December 31, 2005
Duraswitch FinePoint Corporate Total
Goodwill ............ i $ 443874 $ 877,366 $ —  $ 1,321,240
Total assets .. ..........c..ooivn... $1,606,954 $3,599,754  $5,367,180  $10,567,838

15. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATfA (Unaudited)

The following table presents unaudited operating results for each quarter within the two most recent
years. The Company believes that all necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments,
have been included in the amounts stated below to present fairly the following quarterly results when read in
conjunction with the financial statements included elsewhere in this report. Results of operations for any
particular quarter are not necessarily indicative of results of operations for a full fiscal year:

2005 — Quarter Ended,

December 31

September 30 June 30 March 31

Net revenue .......... e $3,193,179  $ 819,172  $2,236,544 § 206,649'
Gross profit ................. Ll 1,361,445 282,389 2,173,387 160,952
Net income (loss) . ... R 118,022 (410,790) 1,372,193 (411,775)
Net income (loss) per common share, i

basic and diluted(1) ................ $ 001 § (004) 014 §$ (0.04)

. 2004 — Quarter Ended,
December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31

Netrevenue ......... ......... P $ 198,380 $ 199413  $1,179,615 $ 179,645
Grossprofit ......... ... i 148,613 149,417 1,130,544 140,932
Net income (loss) .................... (§23,690) (375,047) 446,439 (419,780)
Net income (loss) per common share, ,

basic and diluted(1)................. $ (010) $ (004 $ 005 § (0.04)

16. GEOGRAPHIC CONCENTRATION

Substantially all of the Company’s assets are located in the United States. Revenue by geographic area is
determined based upon the location of the licensee or customer. The United States and China are the only
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countries with net revenue in excess of 10 percent of total net revenue. Net revenue by geographic region for
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 is as follows:

2005 2004 2003
United States. .. ..ot $3,406,397 $1,569,578  $586,176
China ... i 2,858,805 — —
BUrope ... o e 92,975 92,100 106,577
Other ... e e 97,367 95,375 67,159
Total ... $6,455,544  $1,757,053  $759,912

17. COMMITMENTS

Management Services Agreement. The Company has a management services agreement with a
company owned and operated by the founders, two major stockholders. This management agreement requires
the Company to pay a management service fee equal to 1.1 percent of the invoiced sales price for all
Duraswitch-patented technology component switches and integrated switch panels sold by the Company.
Also, the Company has agreed to pay an equivalent percentage of any license or sublicense fees received from
the Duraswitch patented switch technologies. This agreement remains in effect until the expiration of the last
patent which may be issued on the Duraswitch switch technologies. During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the
Company paid approximately $24,510, $14,700, and $3,100, respectively, under this agreement.

FinePoint Earn-Out. 1f FinePoint achieves at least $3.2 million of accumulated earnings before interest
and taxes (“EBIT”) through December 31, 2007, FinePoint shareholders will be entitled to receive an earn-
out payment and the purchase price will be modified. The earn-out consideration can range between $756,800
and $1,419,000 of unregistered common stock and cash depending on the Company’s stock price and EBIT.
The earn-out payment is payable first in up to 360,000 shares of the Company’s unregistered common stock
and the balance is payable in cash.

Letter of Credit. In connection with the Company’s acquisition of FinePoint, the Company secured a
six-month, renewable, $400,000, standby letter of credit (“LOC”) related to the contract manufacturing of
FinePoint’s products. The Company was required to pledge a certificate of deposit in the amount of $400,000
as collateral for the LOC. In the event that the Company does not pay the invoices for the production of the
FinePoint products on the agreed upon terms of net 30, the vendor may draw upon the LOC. As of
December 31, 2005, no amounts have been drawn against the LOC.

Employment Agreements. The Company has employment agreements with its executive officers. These
agreements call for a base salary and bonuses. These agreements also provide for salary and benefits in the
event of separation.

Lease Agreements. Rent expense for the periods ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 approxi-
mated $90,107, $52,000, and $199,000, respectively. Future minimum rental payments are $134,749 in 2006,
$76,794 in 2007, $75,962 in 2008 and $33,403 in 2009.

Tooling. At December 31, 2005, we had a $92,000 commitment for tooling related to volume
production of the PushGate Island magnets which was built to our specifications. The commitment will be
reduced by each component part which is sold by the vendor and any remaining commitment will be paid in
2008.
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Item 8. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 8A. Controls and Procedures

We have evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2005. Based on this evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
are effective to ensure that we record, process, summarize, and report information required to be disclosed by
us in reports and forms filed under the Exchange Act within the time periods specified by the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. During the period covered by this report, there have not been any
changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

There has been no change in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2005 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to affect, our internal
control or financial reporting.

Item 8B. Other Information

None.
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PART I

Item 9. Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control Persons; Compliance With Section 16(a) of
the Exchange Act

The information required by this' Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 10. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 13. Exhibits

Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibit

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of April I, 2004 among Duraswitch Industries, Inc., Active
Recognition Technologies, Arthur Lawida, Ole Sorensen, and Alex Parrish(1)

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 27, 2005, among InPlay Technologies, Inc., FPI
Acquisition, Inc., FinePoint Innovations, Inc., and Stephen Caldwell(2)

2.3 Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 27, 2005, among InPlay
Technologies, Inc., FPI Acquisition, Inc., FinePoint Innovations, Inc., and Stephen Caldwell(2)

31 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation(14)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws(4)

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate(3)

10.1 Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and between Duraswitch

Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(3)

10.11 Addendum #!1 to Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and
between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(5)

10.1.2 Addendum #2 to Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and
between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(6)

10.1.3 Addendum #3 to Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and
between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(14)

10.1.4 Addendum #4 to Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and
between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(14)

10.1.5 Addendum #35 to Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and
between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(14)

10.2 1997 Stock Option Plan(3)
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Exhibit
No.
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6

10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11

10.12
10.13(a)

10.13(b)
10.14

10.15
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22

14
21
23
31

32

Description of Exhibit

1999 Stock Option Plan(3)
2000 Stock Option Plan(6)
2000 Stock Option Plan Amendment(8)

Management Services Agreement dated May 1, 1997 by and between Total Switch, Inc. and
VanDun, LLC(3)

Agreement for Assignment of Present and Future Inventions in Certain Subject Matter, dated
May 1, 1997, by and between Total Switch, Inc. and Anthony J. Van Zeeland(3)

Licensing Agreement, dated April 20, 2000, between Delphi Automotive Systems LLC and
Duraswitch Industries, Inc.(9)

Shareholders’ Agreement, dated June 19 2000, among Duraswitch Industries, Inc., Delphi
Automotive Systems Corporation, and th¢ Primary Shareholders named therein(10)

Employment Agreement, dated July 1, 2003, by and between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and
Anthony J. Van Zeeland(11)

Standard sublease, dated November 1, 2003, by and between 234 South Extension, L.L.C. and
Duraswitch Industries, Inc.(6)

Form of Indemnification Agrecment(17)'

Employment Agreement, dated October 1, 2005, by and between InPlay Technologies, Inc. and
Robert J. Brilon(16)

2005 Stock Award Plan(12)

FinePoint Innovations, Inc. convertible promissory note ($300,000), dated July 27, 2005, issued in
favor of InPlay Technologies, Inc.(2)

Form of Credit Facility Note, dated July 27 2005, issued by FinePoint Innovations, Inc. in favor of
InPlay Technologies, Inc.(2)

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated December 27, 2005, among InPlay Technologies, Inc. and
the investor parties thereto(13) ‘

Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 27, 2005, among InPlay Technologies, Inc. and
the investor parties thereto(13)

Form of Investor Warrant, dated December 27, 2005, issued by InPlay Technologies, Inc. to the
investors in connection with the December 2005 private offering(13)

Form of Agent Warrant, dated December 27, 2003, issued by InPlay Technologies, Inc. to the
placement agent in connection with the December 2005 private offering(13)

Code of Ethics(17)
List of Subsidiaries
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)
and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated under the Securities Exchange Action of 1934, as amended

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(1) Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2004, as filed with the Commission on April 29, 2004.

(2) Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Form 8-K dated July 27, 2005, as filed with the
Commission on August 2, 2005.

(3) Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2, as filed
with the Commission on or about August 16, 1999.

(4) Incorporated by referénce to InPlay Techno‘logies, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated
March 31, 2003, as filed with the Commission on or about May 9, 2003.
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(5)

(6)

()

(8)

9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

(17)

Item

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the year
ended December 31, 1999, as filed with the Commission on March 30, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003, as filed with the Commission on or about March 29, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s definitive Proxy Statement, as filed with the
Commission on or about May 12, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2001, as filed with the Commission on or about March 23, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 20,
2000, as filed with the Commission on or about April 26, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000, as filed with the Commission on or about March 30, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended June 30, 2003, as filed with the Commission on or about August S, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 20,
2003, as filed with the Commission on or about May 25, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Decem-
ber 27, 2005, as filed with the Commission on or about December 29, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the
quarterly period ended June 30, 2005, as filed with the Commission on or about August 5, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Septem-
ber 1, 2005, as filed with the Commission on or about September 8, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Septem-
ber 30, 2003, as filed with the Commission on or about September 30, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the year
ended December 31, 2004, as filed with the Commission on or about March 29, 20035.

14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy

Statement to be filled pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of; 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on iits behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

‘INnPrLay TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

“/s/ Robert J. Brilon
‘Robert J. Brilon

Date: March 15, 2006

Pursuant to the requirements of Securities Exchénge Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacity and on the dates indicated.

Signature _ Capacity Date
/s/ STEVEN P. HANSON :, Chairman of the Board March 15, 2006
Steven P. Hanson
/s/  ROBERT J. BRILON President, Chief Executive Officer, March 15, 2006
Robert J. Brilon Chief Financial Officer, Secretary,
Treasurer and Director
/s/  ANTHONY J. VAN ZEELAND Chief Technology Officer and Director ~ March 15, 2006
Anthony J. Van Zeeland
/s/  JouN W. HaIL : Director March 15, 2006
John W. Hail
/s/ P. ROBERT MoYA : Director March 15, 2006

P. Robert Moya:

/s/  WILLIAM E. PEELLE ; Director March 15, 2006
William E. Peelle

/s/{ MICHAEL A. VAN ZEELAND ‘ Director March 15, 2006
Michael A. Van Zee]and

51




Exhibit
No.

2.1

2.2
23

3.1
32
4.1
10.1

1011
10.1.2
110.13
10.1.4
10.1.5

10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6

10.7
10.8
10.9
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10.11

10.12
10.13(a)

10.13(b)
10.14

10.15

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description of Exhibit

Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of April 1, 2004 among Duraswitch Industries, Inc., Active
Recognition Technologies, Arthur Lawida, Ole Sorensen, and Alex Parrish(1)

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 27, 2005, among InPlay Technologies, Inc., FPI
Acquisition, Inc., FinePoint Innovations, Inc., and Stephen Caldwell(2)

Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 27, 2005, among InPlay
Technologies, Inc., FPI Acquisition, Inc., FinePoint Innovations, Inc., and Stephen Caldwell(2)

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation(14)
Amended and Restated Bylaws(4)
Specimen Common Stock Certificate(3)

Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and between Duraswitch
Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(3)

Addendum #1 to Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and
between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(5)

Addendum #2 to Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and
between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(6)

Addendum #3 to Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and
between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(14)

Addendum #4 to Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and
between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(14)

Addendum #5 to Employment and Separation Agreement dated November 20, 1998 by and
between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and Robert J. Brilon(14)

1997 Stock Option Plan(3)
1999 Stock Option Plan(3)
2000 Stock Option Plan(6)
2000 Stock Option Plan Amendment(8)

Management Services Agreement dated May 1, 1997 by and between Total Switch, Inc. and
VanDun, LLC(3)

Agreement for Assignment of Present and Future Inventions in Certain Subject Matter, dated
May 1, 1997, by and between Total Switch, Inc. and Anthony J. Van Zeeland(3)

Licensing Agreement, dated April 20, 2000, between Delphi Automotive Systems LLC and
Duraswitch Industries, Inc.(9)

Shareholders’ Agreement, dated June 19, 2000, among Duraswitch Industries, Inc., Delphi
Automotive Systems Corporation, and the Primary Shareholders named therein(10) -

Employment Agreement, dated July 1, 2003, by and between Duraswitch Industries, Inc. and
Anthony J. Van Zeeland(11)

Standard sublease, dated November 1, 2003, by and between 234 South Extension, L.L.C. and
Duraswitch Industries, Inc.(6)

Form of Indemnification Agreement(17)

Employment Agreement, dated October 1, 2005, by and between InPlay Technologies, Inc. and
Robert J. Brilon(16)

2005 Stock Award Plan(12)

FinePoint Innovations, Inc. convertible promissory note ($300,000), dated July 27, 2005, xssued in
favor of InPlay Technologies, Inc.(2)

Form of Credit Facility Note, dated July 27, 2005, issued by FinePoint Innovations, Inc. in favor of
InPlay Technologies, Inc.(2)
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10.19
10,20
10.21
10.22

14
21
23
31

32
0
)
(3)
0
)
©
™
®)
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(10)

an

(12)

(13)

(14)

Description of Exhibit

Securities Purchasé Agreement, dated December 27, 2005, among InPlay Technologies, Inc. and
the investor parties: thereto(13)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 27, 2005, among InPlay Technologies, Inc. and
the investor parties thereto(13)

Form of Investor Warrant, dated December 27, 2005, issued by InPlay Technologies, Inc. to the
investors in connection with the December 2005 private offering(13)

Form of Agent Warrant, dated December 27, 2005, issued by InPlay Technologies, Inc. to the
placement agent in connection with the December 2005 private offering(13)

Code of Ethics(17)
List of Subsidiaries
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP :

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)
and Rule 15d-14(4), promulgated under the Securities Exchange Action of 1934, as amended

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2004, as filed with the Commission on April 29, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Form §-K dated July 27, 2005, as filed with the
Commission on August 2, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2, as filed
with the Commission on or about August 16, 1999.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated
March 31, 2003, as filed with the Commission on or about May 9, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the year
ended December 31, 1999, as filed with the Commission on March 30, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003, as filed with the Commission on or about March 29, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s definitive Proxy Statement, as filed with the
Commission on or about May 12, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2001, as filed with the Commission on or about March 23, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 20,
2000, as filed with the Commission on or about April 26, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000, as filed with the Commission on or about March 30, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended June 30, 2003, as filed with the Commission on or about August 5, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 20,
2005, as filed with the Commission on or about May 25, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Decem-
ber 27, 2008, as filed with the Commission on or about December 29, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the
quarterly period ended June 30, 2005, as filed with the Commission on or about August 5, 2005.
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(15) Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Septem-
ber 1, 2005, as filed with the Commission on or about September &, 2005.

{(16) Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Septem-
ber 30, 2005, as filed with the Commission on or about September 30, 2005.

(17) Incorporated by reference to InPlay Technologies, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the year
ended December 31, 2004, as filed with the Commission on or about March 29, 2005.
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Exhibit 21

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF INPLAY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

AS OF MARCH 14, 2006
Name of Subsidiary State of Incorporation or Organization
Aztec Industries, Inc. ‘ Arizona
Total Switch, Inc. Arizona
FinePoint Innovations, Inc. ‘ Delaware
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Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-1258887, 333-92511, 333-41204
and 333-90048 on Form S-8 of InPlay Technologies, Inc. (formerly Duraswitch Industries, Inc.) of our report dated

March 15, 2006, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-KSB of InPlay Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries for
the year ended December 31, 2005.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Phoenix, Arizona

March 15, 2006
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Exhibit 31

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert J. Brilon, certify that:

1.

2.

1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-KSB vof InPlay Technologies, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial ¢ondition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I afe responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
“report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation;

¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2006 By: . [s/ RobertJ. Brilon
Robert J. Brilon
Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer

°7




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-KSB of InPlay Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year
ended December 31, 2005, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™),
I, Robert J. Brilon, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, to my best
knowledge and belief, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780(d}); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of the Company.

/s/ Robert J. Brilon
Robert J. Brilon

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer
March 15, 2006
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InPlay Technologies, Inc.
234 S. Extension Road
Mesa, Arizona 85210

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
To be held on May 19, 2006

April 10, 2006

DEAR STOCKHOLDER:

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of InPlay'Technologies Inc., a Nevada corporation, will be held on
May 19, 2006, at 8:30 a.m., local time, at our corporate headquarters 234 S. Extension Road, Mesa, Arizona 85210,
for the following purposes:

1. To elect two directors to serve for a three-year term expiring in 2009, or until their successors have
been elected and qualified;

2. To ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accountants
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006; and

3. To transact other business as may properly come before the meeting.

Enclosed is a proxy statement that contains more information including how to attend the meeting and
different methods you can use to vote.

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on March 27, 2006, are entitled to receive notice of and
to vote at this meeting or any adjournments or postponements of the meeting. The list of stockholders entitled to
vote at this meeting will be available for examination by any stockholder at our offices at 234 South Extension,
Mesa, Arizona 85210, at least ten days before the meeting.

Your vote is importanf. If you cannot attend the meeting in person, we encourage you to sign and return
your proxy card or use one of the alternative voting methods to ensure that your vote is counted.

By order of the Board of Directors,
Cao g ) Shotm

Robert J. Brilon
Secretary
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InPlay Technologies, Inc.
234 S. Extension Road
Mesa, Arizona 85210

PROXY STATEMENT

General Information

The enclosed proxy is solicited on behalf of InPlay Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation, by our
Board of Directors for use at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held at 8:30 a.m., local time, on
Friday, May 19, 2006, or at any adjournment or postponements thereof, for the purposes set forth in this proxy
statement and in the accompanying notice. This proxy statement and the accompanying form of proxy were first
mailed on or about April 10, 2006 to all stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting.

Stockholders Entitled to Vote

Holders of shares of our common stock at the close of business on March 27, 2006 are entitled to
notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders and at any and all adjournments or postponements
of the meeting. Each holder of common stock voting at the meeting, either in person or by proxy, may cast one
vote per share of common stock held on all matters to be voted on at the meeting. The holders of not less than
one-third of the shares entitled to vote at the meeting must be present in person or be represented by proxy in
order to constitute a quorum for all matters to come before the meeting. On the record date, there were issued
and outstanding 11,481,512 shares of our common stock.

Who May Attend the Meeting

If you are a stockholder of record, which means you hold your shares in your name, you may attend the
meeting. If you own shares in the name of a bank, broker, or other holder of record, you will need to ask your
broker or bank for a copy of the proxy they received from us to attend the meeting.

How to Vote

If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote by mail, telephone, the Internet, or in person. To vote
by mail, sign, date, and return your proxy card in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. If you sign and return
your proxy card, but do not give voting instructions, the shares represented by that proxy will be voted as
recommended by the Board of Directors.

All stockholders may vote in person at the meeting (unless they are street name holders without a legal
proxy). If your shares are held in street name, you will receive instructions from the holder of record that you
must follow in order for your shares to be voted. Telephone and Internet voting may also be offered to
stockholders owning shares through most banks and brokers.

Voting Choices

When a proxy is properly executed and returned, the shares it represents will be voted at the meeting as
directed. If no specification is indicated, the shares will be voted “for” the election of the director nominees set
forth in this proxy statement and “for” the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche, LLP as our
independent registered public accountants for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006.
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Changing Your Vote

You may change your vote at any time before the proxy is exercised. A stockholder may revoke a
proxy by '

(1) Delivering a later-dated proxy,
(2) Giving written notice to us, or
(3) Voting by ballot at the meeting.

How Votes are Counted

An inspector of election will be appointed for the meeting. The inspector of election will determine
whether or not a quorum is present and will tabulate votes cast by proxy or in person at the meeting. If you have
returned valid proxy instructions or attend the meeting in person, your shares of common stock will be counted
for the purpose of determining whether there is a quorum. The election inspector will treat abstentions and
broker non-votes as shares that are present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining the presence of a
quorum, but as unvoted for purposes of determining the approval of any matter submitted to the stockholders
for a vote. If a broker indicates on the proxy that it does not have discretionary authority as to certain shares to
vote on a particular matter, those shares will not be considered as present and entitled to vote with respect to
that matter. ' '

Cost of this Proxy Solicitation .

We will pay the cost of this proxy solicitation, including the charges and expenses of brokerage firms
and others who forward solicitation material to beneficial owners of our common stock. We will solicit proxies
by mail. Proxies may also be solicited by certain of our directors and officers by personal interview, telephone,
or e-mail without additional compensation. '

Annual Report and Other Matters

Our Annual Report to Stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2005 is included with this mailing
of the notice and proxy statement to all stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting. The
Annual Report is not incorporated into this proxy statement and is not considered a part of these proxy soliciting
materials or subject to Regulations 14A or 14C or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended. The information contained in the “Audit Committee Report” below shall not be deemed
“filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission or subject to Regulations 14A or 14C or to the liabilities
of Section 18 of the Exchange Act. '

We will provide upon request, without charge to each stockholder of record as of the record date,
a copy of our annual report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. Our Form 10-KSB is also available on our website,
www.inplaytechnologies.com. Any exhibits listed in the Form 10-KSB report also will be furnished upon
request at the actual expense incurred by us in furnishing such exhibits. Any such requests should be
directed to our corporate secretary at our executive offices set forth in this proxy statement.

WHAT VOTE IS REQUIRED TO APPROVE EACH PROPOSAL?

Proposal 1: Election of two Directors

Assuming that a quorum is present, the nominees for director who receive the most votes properly cast
in person or by proxy will be elected. There will be no cumulative voting in the election of directors.
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Proposal 2: Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accountants
Assuming that a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of common stock

present in person or by proxy will be required to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our
independent registered public accountants for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006.

WHO SHOULD I CALL IF I HAVE QUESTIONS?

If you have questions about the Annual Meeting or voting, please call Heather Beshears, Vice
President, Corporate Communications at 480.586.3357 or e-mail heather@jinplaytechnologies.com.

PROPOSALS

PROPOSAL NO. 1 - ELECTION OF TWO DIRECTORS

Number of Directors to be Elected

Our articles of incorporation and bylaws provide that the number of directors shall be fixed from time
to time by resolution of the Board of Directors. Presently, the number of directors is fixed at seven and that
number of directors is divided into three classes. Each class has a term of three years and the terms are
staggered so that each year, only one class of directors is elected. Each director elected will hold office for three
years or until his successor is elected and qualified. If any director resigns or otherwise is unable to complete his
term of office, the Board may elect another director for the remainder of the resigning director’s term.

Nominees of the Board

The Board has nominated the following individuals for election as Class 2 Directors for a three-year
term expiring in 2009 or until their respective successors have been elected and qualified:

John W. Hail
William E. Peelle

These nominees are currently serving on the Board. The nominees have agreed to be named in this
proxy statement and to serve if elected. Information regarding the nominees is listed below.

We know of no reason why the nominees would not be able to serve. However, if any nominee is
unable or declines to serve as director, the proxies will vote your shares of common stock to approve the
election of any substitute nominee proposed by the Board.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the election of the nominees named herein.

Information Regarding Directors and Executive Officers

The following biographical descriptions set forth certain information with respect to the nominees for
election as Class 2 Directors at the meeting, our continuing directors, and our executive officers, based on
information furnished to us by each person.

Class 2 Nominees for Election at the 2006 Annual Meeting

John W. Hail (75) has served as an independent director since March 1999 and serves on the Audit,
Compensation, and Nominations and Corporate Governance committees. Mr. Hail is Chairman of the Audit
Committee. From 1988 to 2006, Mr. Hail served as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of
Directors of AMS Health Services, Inc., a publicly held provider of health and beauty products. Mr. Hail also
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serves on the Board of Directors of Pre-Paid Legal Servrces Inc., a publicly held company engaged in the sale
of legal services contracts. Mr. Hail received an honorary doctorate degree from Oklahoma City University.

William E. Peelle (56) has served as an independent director since May 1999 and serves on the Audit,
Compensation, and Nominations and Corporate Governance committees. Mr. Peelle is Chairman of the
Compensation Committee. Mr. Peelle founded Peelle Law Offices Co. in 1977 and has practiced law and
represented a number of businesses since 1975. Mr, Peelle has also served as the elected prosecuting attorney of
Clinton County, Ohio, since 1993. Mr. Peelle has served as counsel or as a member of the board of several
community organizations. Mr. Peelle received his J.D. degree from Ohio Northern University and has a B.S.
degree in Business Administration from Ohio State University.

Class 3 Directors — Term to Expire 2007

Steven P. Hanson (58) has served as an independent Director since July 2004, and as Chairman since
April 2005, He serves on the Audit, Compensation and Nominations and Corporate Governance committees.
Mr. Hanson has served as a partner at Knowledge Capital Alliance since February 2003, a consulting firm in
leadership development and organizational performance, as well as partner in Southwest Value Acquisitions, a
private equity firm, since September 2004. Mr. Hanson has over 32 years of senior executive experience in the
high technology industry, including 28 years at Motorola and three years as President and Chief Executive
Officer of ON Semiconductor. Mr. Hanson holds a BSEE degree from the College of Engineering at Arizona
State University.

Michael A. Van Zeeland (31) has served as a Director since May 1997. Dr. Van Zeeland is Post-
Doctoral Researcher for General Atomics. From September 1998 to June 2003, Dr. Van Zeeland was a graduate
student researcher at UCLA. From January 1998 to September 1998, Dr. Van Zeeland was employed by our
company as an engineering physicist. Dr. Van Zeeland holds Ph.D. and Masters degrees in Physics from UCLA
and a B.S. degree in Engineering Physics from the University of Arizona. Dr. Van Zeeland is the son of )
Anthony Van Zeeland, a Director and our Chief Technology Officer.

Class 1 Nominees ~ Term to Expire 2008

Robert J. Brilon (45) became Chief Executive Officer in 2002 and has served as President and Chief
Financial Officer of InPlay Technologies since November 1998. Mr. Brilon served as Chairman from May 2002
through March 2005. Mr. Brilon holds a B.S. degree in Business Administration from the University of lowa
and is a CPA. A

P. Robert Moya (61) has served as an independent director since February 2005 and serves on the
Audit, Compensation and Nominations and Corpotate Governance committees. Mr. Moya is Chairman of the
Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee. M. Moya is Of Counsel for Quarles & Brady LLP. From
October 2002 through December 2004, Mr. Moya served as Executive Vice President, and General Counsel of
Insight Enterprises, Inc, a Fortune 1000 company. He was also designated Insight’s Chief Administrative
Officer in 2003. Prior to joining Insight, Mr. Moya retired after 10 years as a partner in the Phoenix, Arizona
office of Quarles & Brady LLP where he specialized in corporate and securities law and mergers/acquisitions
for middle-market and emerging growth companies. He also served as a member of Quarles & Brady’s National
Executive Committee and the- Arizona Management Committee and as Co-Chairman of the Corporate and
Securities Law Group. He currently serves on the board of PlusNet pic, one of the U.K.’s leading Internet
providers. From 2000 until 2005, he also served as a director for BIGe Realestate, Inc., which provides software
and services relating to the management of real property. Mr. Moya received an A.B. degree from Princeton
University, and a J.D. degree from Stanford Law School.

Anthony J. Van Zeeland (64) became Chlef Technology Officer in July 2003 and has served as
director since our company’s formation in May 1997 From May 1997 to July 2003, Mr. Van Zeeland served as
our Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice Pre51dent Engineering. Mr. Van Zeeland holds a B.S. degree
in Physics and a Masters of Science in Materials Engineering from the University of Wisconsin. Michael Van
Zeeland, Mr. Van Zeeland’s son, also serves as one'of our Directors.
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Information Relating to Corporate Governance and the Board of Directors.

Our Board of Directors has determined that four directors, each of Messrs. Hail, Hanson, Moya, and
Peelle, are independent under the standards specified by the SEC and applicable NASDAQ rules.

The Board of Directors has established an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, and a
Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee. Each committee is comprised entirely of independent
directors.

Our Board of Directors has adopted charters for the Audit, Compensation, and Nominations and
Corporate Governance committees describing the authority and responsibilities delegated to each committee by
the Board. Our Board of Directors has also adopted a Code of Conduct, and a Code of Ethics for the CEQO and
Senior Financial Officers. We post on our website at www.inplaytechnologies.com, the charters of our Audit,
Compensation, and Nominations and Corporate Governance committees; our Code of Conduct, and Code of
Ethics for the CEO and Senior Financial Officers, and any amendments or waivers thereto; and any other
corporate governance materials contemplated by SEC or NASDAQ regulations. These documents are also
available in print to any stockholder requesting a copy in writing from our corporate secretary at our executive
offices set forth in this proxy statement. '

Audit Committee. The purpose of the Audit Committee is to oversee the accounting and financial
reporting processes of our company and the audits of our financial statements. The Audit Committee provides
assistance to our Board of Directors with respect to its oversight of (a) the integrity of our financial statements,
(b) our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (c) the independent registered public accountant’s
qualifications and independence, and (d) the performance of our independent registered public accountants. The
primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are set forth in its charter, which is reviewed annually, and
includes various matters with respect to the oversight of our company’s accounting and financial reporting
process and audits of the financial statements of our company on behalf of our Board of Directors. The Audit
Committee also selects the independent registered public accountants to conduct the annual audit of the
financial statements of our company; reviews the proposed scope of such audit, reviews accounting and
financial controls of our company with the independent registered public accountants and our financial
accounting staff; and reviews and approves transactions between us and our directors, officers, and their
affiliates.

The Audit Committee currently consists of Messrs. Hail, Hanson, Moya, and Peelle, each of whom is
an independent director of our company under NASDAQ rules as well as under rules adopted by the Securities
and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The Board of Directors has
determined that Mr. Hail (whose background is detailed above) qualifies as an “audit committee financial
expert” in accordance with applicable rules and regulations of the SEC. Mr. Hail serves as Chair of the Audit
Committee. The audit committee held four meetings during fiscal 2005.

Compensation Committee. The purpose and responsibilities of the Compensation Committee include
reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Technology Officer, evaluating their performance in light of those goals and objectives,
and determining and approving the compensation level of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief
Technology Officer based on this evaluation. The Compensation Committee also recommends to the Board of
Directors with respect to, or, as directed by the Board of Directors, determines and approves, compensation of
our executive officers, and considers the grant of stock options and awards to our executive officers and other
employees under our stock option and award plans. The Compensation Committee currently consists of
Messrs. Hail, Hanson, Moya, and Peelle. Mr. Peelle serves as Chair of the Compensation Committee. The
Compensation Committee held six meetings during fiscal 2005.

Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee. The purpose and responsibilities of the
Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee include the identification of individuals qualified to
become board members, the selection or recommendation to the Board of Directors of nominees to stand for
election as directors at each election of directors, the development and recommendation to the Board of
Directors of a set of corporate governance principles applicable to our company, the oversight of the selection
and composition of committees of the Board of Directors, and the oversight of the evaluations of the Board of
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Directors and management. The Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee will consider persons
recommended by stockholders for inclusion as nominees for election to our Board of Directors if the names,
biographical data, and qualifications of such persons are submitted in writing in a timely manner addressed and
delivered to our company’s secretary at the address listed herein. The Nominations and Corporate Governance
Committee identifies and evaluates nominees for our Board of Directors, including nominees recommended by
stockholders, based on numerous factors it considers appropriate, some of which may include strength of
character, mature judgment, career specialization, relevant technical skills, diversity, and the extent to which the
nominee would fill a present need on our Board of Directors. The Nominations and Corporate Governance
Committee currently consists of Messrs. Hail, Hanson, Moya, and Peelle. Mr. Moya serves as the Chair of the
Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee, As discussed above, the members of the Nominations and
Corporate Governance Committee are independent, as that term is defined by the applicable NASDAQ
regulations. The Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee held one meeting during fiscal 2005.

Board and Committee Meetings

In 2005, the Board of Directors held six meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors held a
total of 11 meetings. Each director attended more than 75% of the aggregate of all meetings of the Board of
Directors and the Committees on which he served during fiscal 2005. Each of our directors attended our 2005
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Interested parties may communicate with our Board of Directors or specific members of our Board of
Directors, including the members of our various board committees, by submitting a letter addressed to the
Board of Directors of InPlay Technologies, Inc. ¢/o any specified individual director or directors at the address
listed herein. Any such letters are sent to the indicated directors.

Director Compensation

Employees of our company do not receive compensation for serving as members of our Board of
Directors. Directors are reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred in attending meetings and carrying out
duties as board and committee members. During fiscal 2003, all non-employee directors received a cash retainer
of $3,000 per quarter and semiannual grants of options to purchase 5,000 shares of common stock at exercise
prices equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of the grant. The Chairman received a
cash retainer of $5,000 per quarter. All non-employee directors also received $250 quarterly for each committee
on which they serve. Committee chairmen received $375 quarterly, other than the Audit Committee Chair, who
received $500 quarterly. ‘

65




EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

- The table below sets forth total compensation received for services in all capacities to our company for
the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, by our Chief Executive Officer and one other
executive officer whose total annual salary and bonus exceeded $100,000 during fiscal 2005.

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Long Term
Compensation

Awards

Annual Compensation (1)  Securities Underlying

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Options (#) (2)
Robert J. Brilon, Chief Executive Officer,
President, Chief Financial Officer ......... 2005 $ 270,600 $ 244,000 150,000
2004 270,600 - 50,000 (5)
2003 281,008 - 75,000
Anthony J. Van Zeeland, Chief Technology
OFFICer (3).vivviniiiiireerereee e 2005 $ 118,800 $ 6,000 (4) -
2004 118,800 6,000 (4) -
2003 187,795 25,000 (4) -
€] The executive officers listed also received personal benefit perquisites, none of which exceeded the lesser of

$50,000 or 10% of their aggregate salary and bonus.

© The exercise prices of all stock options granted were equal to or greater than the fair market value of our common
stock on the date of grant.

3) Mr. Van Zeeland has served as our Chief Technology Officer since July 1, 2003, and was formerly our Chief
Operating Officer and Executive Vice President, Engineering.

€)) Amount includes patent bonuses related to our agreement to compensate Mr. Van Zeeland for each U.S. or foreign
patent granted in his name. Mr. Van Zeeland has assigned these patents and will assign future patents to the
company.

(5) During June 2004, pursuant to an option exchange agreement, options to purchase 50,000 shares of common stock

previously granted to Mr. Brilon were cancelled. In exchange, we granted to Mr. Brilon new options during
December 2004.
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Option Grants

The following table provides information with respect to stock options granted to the listed executive
officers during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

OPTION GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR

Individual Grants

Number of Percent of
Securities Total Options Exercise
Underlying Granted to or Base

; Options : Employees in Price Expiration

Name Granted (#) Fiscal Year (8/Sh) Date
Robert J. Brilon.................. 75,000 26% $ 1.58 5/20/2015
75,000 26% $ 3.32 12/1/2015

Anthony J. Van Zeeland...... - -

Year-End Options Values and Holdings

The following table sets forth information with respect to options held by the listed officers as of
December 31, 2005. None of the listed officers exercised any options during fiscal 2005.

"OPTION VALUES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2005

Number of Securities Underlying Value of Unexercised
Unexercised Options In-The-Money Options
at Fiscal Year-End at Fiscal Year-End (1)
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable = Unexercisable
Robert J. Brilon ....cccccoviieninenecncne, 573,471 ‘ - $ 255908 $ -
Anthony J. Van Zeeland.................... - - - -
N Calculated based on $3.26, which was the cloéing price of our common stock as quoted on the NASDAQ Capital

Market on December 31, 2005, multiplied by the number of applicable shares in-the-money less the total exercise
price. The exercise prices of certain of the options held by the officers listed were greater than $3.26 per share.




Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information with respect to shares of our common stock that may be issued upon
the exercise of outstanding warrants as well as outstanding stock options under our 1997 Stock Option Plan, our
1999 Stock Option Plan, our 2000 Stock Option Plan, and our 2005 Stock Award Plan as of December 31,
2005.

(a) (c)
Number of Number of Securities
Securities (b) Remaining Available for
to be Issued Upon Weighted Average Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Exercise Price of  Equity Compensation
Outstanding Outstanding Plans (Excluding
Options, Warrants, Options, Warrants, Securities Reflected in
Plan Category and Rights and Rights Column (a))
Equity Compensation
Plans Approved by
Stockholders ......ovvevervvecvviniennne, 1,351,056 $ 7.16 201,687
Equity Compensation
Plans Not Approved by
Stockholders .........ocvvvrvervvevnnnns 509,091 (1) $ 3.64 -
Total 1,860,147 $ 6.20 201,687
4} Represents warrants issued in connection with the December 2005 private placement of 1,272,728 shares.

Employment and Separation Agreements
Anthony J. Van Zeeland

Effective July 2003, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Van Zeeland providing for
him to serve as our Chief Technology Officer for a term expiring December 31, 2007. Under the agreement,
Mr. Van Zeeland agreed to work a reduced schedule (minimum 1,040 hours per year) and we agreed to pay Mr.
Van Zeeland an annual salary of $118,800. In the event Mr. Van Zeeland’s employment is terminated by us
without cause, due to a change of control of our company (as defined in the agreement), or in the event of his
death or disability, we will pay him his annual salary and benefits through the term of the agreement. In the
event Mr. Van Zeeland unilaterally terminates his employment, we will pay him his base salary and benefits
through the date of termination. The agreement also contains provisions prohibiting Mr. Van Zeeland from
competing with us for a period of one year following termination of his employment, taking certain actions
intended to solicit other persons to terminate their business relationship with us or to terminate his or her
employment relationship with us, and making unauthorized use or disclosure of our trade names, fictitious
names, or confidential information.

We also agreed to pay Mr. Van Zeeland a bonus of $5,000 for each U.S. patent and $1,000 for each
foreign patent issued in his name as inventor or co-inventor, with a maximum of $20,000 during any fiscal year.
Mr. Van Zeeland has assigned these patents and will assign future patents to the Company.

Robert J. Brilon

During September 2005, we entered into a new employment agreement with Robert J. Brilon. The
agreement provides that Mr. Brilon will serve as our Chief Executive Officer, President, and Chief Financial
Officer. The agreement supersedes in its entirety our prior employment agreement with Mr. Brilon. The initial
term of the agreement commenced on October 1, 2005 and on each successive day following such date, without
further action on the part of us or Mr. Brilon, the term of the agreement is automatically renewed for a new two-
year term.
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Under the agreement, we agreed to pay Mr.’Brilon an annual base salary of $270,600, subject to annual
increases at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Each year during the term
of the agreement, we will pay to Mr. Brilon an incentive bonus of the greater of the following:

e an amount equal to 5% of InPlay’s net income before taxes, goodwill amortization, and non-cash
charges; or

e an amount of up to 100% of Mr. Brilon’s base salary for such fiscal year, which shall be determined
from Mr. Brilon’s achievement of performance standards or objectives set by the Board or
Compensation Committee.

Accordingly, our Compensation Committee approved a $244,000 bonus for Mr. Brilon related to his
achievement during fiscal 2005 of performance standards and objectives set by the Compensation Committee.

We also will provide Mr. Brilon with full family medical benefits and a leased automobile or
automobile allowance not to exceed $833 per month plus expenses.

The agreement contains provisions prohibiting Mr. Brilon from the following:

e  competing with us for a one-year period following termination of his employment;

e taking certain actions intended to solicit our employees for a one-year period following termination of
his employment; and

» making unauthorized use of disclosure of our trade secrets or other confidential information.

The agreement also prohibits Mr. Brilon from soliciting our customers for a two-year period following
termination of his employment with our company. '

If we terminate Mr. Brilon’s employment without cause, or if he terminates his employment with good
reason,

e we will pay Mr. Brilon his then-current annual salary for a two-year period, plus a bonus equal to 5%
of our net income before taxes, goodwill amortization, and non-cash charges during the then-current
fiscal year pro rated through the fiscal quarter of the termination date;

e we will pay Mr. Brilon’s family medical and dental insurance coverage during the two-year period
following termination of his employment; and

e all of Mr. Brilon’s unvested stock options will immediately vest and become exercisable.

In the event Mr. Brilon’s employment is terminated by reason of his death or disability, we will pay to
Mr. Brilon his base salary and earned bonus through the date of termination of his employment. In the event
Mr. Brilon’s employment is terminated by us without cause or for good reason in contemplation of or within
one year following a change of control, Mr. Brilon may elect to receive either

a lump sum equal to 2.99 times his then-current annual base salary; or
e 5% of the gross consideration given in connection with the merger or acquisition that resulted in a
change of control. '

All unvested stock options held by Mr. Brilon on the effective date of the change of control will
immediately vest and become exercisable. In the event Mr. Brilon terminates his employment with us, and after
execution of a continuing consulting agreement, we will continue to pay Mr. Brilon his then-current base salary
during a six-month period following the date of termination of his employment.
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2005 Stock Award Plan
Background and Purpose

During March 2005, our Board of Directors adopted our 2005 Stock Award Plan. The terms of the 2005
Plan provide for grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, deferred stock, bonus
stock, dividend equivalents, other stock related awards and performance awards that may be settled in cash,
stock, or other property.

The purpose of the 2005 Plan is to assist us in attracting, motivating, retaining, and rewarding high-
quality executives and other employees, officers, directors, and consultants by enabling such persons to
acquire or increase a proprietary interest in our company in order to strengthen the mutuality of interests
between such persons and our stockholders, and providing such persons with annual and long-term
performance incentives to expend their maximum efforts in the creation of stockholder value.

General Terms of the 2005 Plan; Shares Available for Issuance

The 2005 Plan provides for the granting of awards in the form of incentive stock options, nonqualified
stock options, stock appreciation rights, shares of restricted common stock, bonus stock in lieu of
obligations, or other stock-based awards to employees, directors, and independent contractors who provide
valuable services to our company. The 2005 Plan authorizes the issuance of 500,000 shares of our common
stock, all of which shares may be issued pursuant to incentive stock options. The maximum number of
shares of common stock covered by awards granted to any individual in any year may not exceed 250,000,
If any award previously granted under the 2005 Plan is forfeited, terminated, canceled, surrendered, does
not vest, or expires without having been exercised in full, stock not issued under such award will again be
available for grant for purposes of the 2005 Plan. If any change is made in the stock subject to the 2005
Plan, or subject to any award granted under the 2005 Plan (through consolidation, spin-off, recapitalization,
stock dividend, split-up, combination of shares, exchange of shares, or otherwise), the 2005 Plan provides
that appropriate adjustments will be made as to the aggregate number and type of shares available for
awards, the maximum number and type of shares that may be subject to awards to any individual, the
number and type of shares covered by each outstanding award, the exercise price grant price, or purchase
price relating to any award, and any other aspect of any award that the Board of Directors or Committee
determines appropriate.

The 2005 Plan provides that it is not intended to be the exclusive means by which we may issue options
to acquire our common stock or any other type of award. To the extent permitted by applicable law and the
rules and regulations of the NASDAQ Capital Market, we may issue other options, warrants, or awards
other than pursuant to the 2005 Plan without stockholder approval.

Limitations on Awards

The plan imposes individual limitations on certain awards, in part to comply with Section 162(m).
Under these limitations, no more than 250,000 shares of stock may be granted to an individual during any
fiscal year pursuant to any awards granted under the plan. The maximum amount that may be earned by
any one participant as a Performance Award or other cash award for a performance period is $1 million. All
limitations on the amount of stock to be issued under the plan are subject to adjustment in certain
circumstances.

In the event that a dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, shares of our common stock, or other
property), recapitalization, forward or reverse split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, spin-off,
combination, repurchase, share exchange, or other similar corporate transaction or event affects our
common stock so that an adjustment is appropriate in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights
of participants, the plan administrator is authorized to substitute, exchange, or adjust any of all of (1) the
number and kind of shares that may be delivered under the plan, (2) the per person limitations described in
the preceding paragraph, and (3) all outstanding awards, including adjustments to exercise prices of options
and other affected terms of awards. The plan administrator is authorized to adjust performance conditions
and other terms of awards in response to these kinds of events or in response to changes in applicable laws,
regulations, or accounting principles. :
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Eligibility

The persons eligible to receive awards under the plan consist of directors, officers, employees, and
independent contractors of our company and those of our affiliates. However, incentive stock options may
be granted under the plan only to our employees, including officers, and those of our affiliates. An
employee on leave of absence may be considered as stlll in our employ or in the employ of an affiliate for

purposes of eligibility under the plan.

Administration

Our Board of Directors administers the plan. However, the Compensation Committee of our Board of
Directors administers the plan with respect to our senior officers. Together, our Board of Directors and the
Compensatlon Committee is referred to as the plan administrator. The Compensation Committee members
must be “non-employee directors” as defined by Rule 16b-3 of the Securities Exchange Act, “outside
directors” for purposes of Section 162(m), and independent as defined by NASDAQ or any other national
securities exchange on which any of our securities may be listed for trading in the future. Subject to the
terms of the plan, the plan administrator is authorized to select eligible persons to receive awards,
determine the type and number of awards to be granted and the number of shares of our common stock to
which awards will relate, specify times at which awards will be exercisable or may be settled (including
performance conditions that may be required as a condition thereof), set other terms and conditions of
awards, prescribe forms of award agreements, interpret and specify rules and regulations relating to the
plan, and make all other determinations that may be necessary or advisable for the administration of the
plan.

Stock Options and Stock Apﬁreciation Rights

The plan administrator 'is authorized to grant stock options, including both incentive stock options,
which we refer to as ISOs, and nonqualified stock options. In addition, the plan administrator is authorized
to grant stock appreciation rights, which entitle the participant to receive the appreciation in our common
stock between the grant date and the exercise date of a stock appreciation right. The plan administrator
determines the exercise price per share subject to an option and the grant price of a stock appreciation right.
However, the per share exercise price of an ISO and the per share grant price of a stock appreciation right
must not be less than the fair market value of a share of our common stock on the grant date and the per
share exercise price of an ISO must not be less than 85% of the fair market value of a share of our common
stock on the grant date. The plan administrator generally will fix the maximum term of each option or stock
appreciation right, the times at which each stock option or stock appreciation right will be exercisable, and
provisions requiring forfeiture of unexercised stock options or stock appreciation rights at or following
termination of employment or service, except that ne stock option or stock appreciation right may have a
term exceeding 10 years. Stock options may be exercised by payment of the exercise price in cash, shares
that have been held for at least six months (or that the plan administrator otherwise determines will not
cause us a financial accounting charge), and outstandmg awards or other property having a fair market
value equal to the exercise price, as the plan administrator may determine from time to time. The plan
administrator determines methods of exercise and settlement and other terms of the stock appreciation
rights. Stock appreciation rights under the plan may include “limited stock appreciation rights” exercisable
for a stated period of time after we experience a change in control or upon the occurrence of some other
event specified by the plan administrator, as discussed below.

Restricted and Deferred Stock

The plan administrator is authorized to grant restricted stock and deferred stock. Restricted stock is a
grant of shares of our common stock, which may not.be sold or disposed of and which may be forfeited in
the event of certain terminations of employment or serv1ce prior to the end of a restricted period specified
by the plan administrator. A participant granted restricted stock generally has all of the rights of one of our
stockholders, unless otherwise determined by the plan administrator. An award of deferred stock confers
upon a participant the right to receive shares of our common stock at the end of a specified deferral period,
and may be subject to possible forfeiture of the award in the event of certain terminations of employment
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prior to the end of a specified restricted period. Prior to settlement, an award of deferred stock carries no
voting or dividend rights or other rights associated with share ownership, although dividend equivalents
may be granted, as discussed below.

Dividend Equivalents

The plan administrator is authorized to grant dividend equivalents conferring on participants the right to
receive, currently or on a deferred basis, cash, shares of our common stock, other awards, or other property
equal in value to dividends paid on a specific number of shares of our common stock or other periodic
payments. Dividend equivalents may be granted alone or in connection with another award, may be paid
currently or on a deferred basis and, if deferred, may be deemed to have been reinvested in additional
shares of our common stock, awards, or otherwise as specified by the plan administrator.

Bonus Stock and Awards in Lieu of Cash Obligations

The plan administrator is authorized to grant shares of our common stock as a bonus free of restrictions
for services performed for us or to grant shares of our common stock or other awards in lieu of our
obligations to pay cash under the plan or other plans or compensatory arrangements, subject to such terms
as the plan administrator may specify.

Other Stock-Based Awards

The plan administrator is authorized to grant awards under the plan that are denominated or payable in,
valued by reference to, or otherwise based on or related to shares of our common stock. Such awards might
include convertible or exchangeable debt securities, other rights convertible or exchangeable into shares of
our common stock, purchase rights for shares of our common stock, awards ‘with value and payment
contingent upon our performance or any other factors designated by the plan administrator, and awards
valued by reference to the book value of shares of our common stock or the value of securities of or the
performance of specified subsidiaries or business units. The plan administrator determines the terms and
conditions of such awards.

Performance Awards

The right of a participant to exercise or receive a grant or settlement of an award, and the timing
thereof, may be subject to such performance conditions, including subjective individual goals, as may be
specified by the plan administrator. In addition, the plan authorizes specific performance awards, which
represent a conditional right to receive cash, shares of our common stock, or other awards upon
achievement of certain pre-established performance goals and subjective individual goals during a specified
fiscal year. Performance awards granted to persons whom the plan administrator expects will, for the year
in which a deduction arises, be “covered employees” (as defined below) will, if and to the extent intended
by the plan administrator, be subject to provisions that should qualify such awards as “performance based”
compensation not subject to the limitation on tax deductibility by us under Section 162(m). For purposes of
Section 162(m), the term “covered employee” means our Chief Executive Officer and our four highest
compensated officers as of the end of a taxable year as disciosed in our filings with the SEC. If and to the
extent required under Section 162(m), any power or authority relating to a performance award intended to
qualify under Section 162(m) is to be exercised by the Compensation Committee, not our Board of
Directors.

Subject to the requirements of the plan, the plan administrator will determine performance award terms,
including the required levels of performance with respect to specified business criteria, the corresponding
amounts payable upon achievement of such levels of performance, termination and forfeiture provisions,
and the form of settlement. One or more of the following business criteria based on our consolidated
financial statements, and/or those of our affiliates, or for our business units and/or those of our affiliates
(except with respect to the total shareholder return and earnings per share criteria), will be used by the plan
administrator in establishing performance goals for such Performance Awards (including for awards
designed to comply with the performance-based compensation exception to Section 162(m)): (1) total
stockholder return, (2) total stockholder return compared to total return (on a comparable basis) of a
publicly available index; (3) net income; (4) pretax earnings; (5) earnings before interest expense, taxes,
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depreciation, and amortization; (6) pretax operating earnings after interest expense but before bonuses and
extraordinary or special items; (7) operating margin; (8) earnings per share; (9) return on equity; (10) return
on capital; (11)return on investment; (12) operating earnings; (13) working capital or inventory; and
(14) ratio of debt to stockholders’ equity. In granting performance awards, the plan administrator may
establish unfunded award “pools,” the amounts of which will be based upon the achievement of a
performance goal or goals based on one or more of certain business criteria described in the plan. During
the first 90 days of a performance period, the plan administrator will determine who will potentially receive
performance awards for that performance period, either out of the pool or otherwise.

After the end of each performance period, the plan administrator (which will be the Compensation
Committee for awards intended to qualify as performance-based for purposes of Section 162(m)) will
determine (a) the amount of any pools and the maximum amount of potential performance awards payable
to each participant in the pools and (b) the amount of any other potential performance awards payable to
participants in the plan. The plan administrator may, in its discretion, determine that the amount payable as
a performance award will be reduced from the amount of any potential award.

Other Terms of Awards

Awards may be settled in the form of cash, shares of our common stock, other awards, or other property
in the discretion of the plan administrator. Awards under the plan are generally granted without a
requirement that the participant pay consideration in the form of cash or property for the grant (as
distinguished from the exercise), except to the extent required by law. The plan administrator may require
or permit participants to defer the settlement of all or part of an award in accordance with such terms and
conditions as the plan administrator may establish, including payment or crediting of interest or dividend
equivalents on deferred amounts, and the crediting of earnings, gains, and losses based on deemed
investment of deferred amounts in specified investment vehicles. The plan administrator is authorized to
place cash, shares of our common stock, or other property in trusts or make other arrangements to provide
for payment of our obligations under the plan. The plan administrator may condition any payment relating
to an award on the withholding of taxes and may provide that a portion of any shares of our common stock
or other property to be distributed will be withheld (or previously acquired shares of our common stock or
other property be surrendered by the participant) to satisfy withholding and other tax obligations. Awards
granted under the plan generally may not be pledged or otherwise encumbered and are not transferable
except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, or to a designated beneficiary upon the
participant’s death, except that the plan administrator' may, in its discretion, permit transfers of nonqualified
stock options for estate planning or other purposes subject to any applicable restrictions under Rule 16b-3
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

The plan administrator may grant awards in exchange for other awards under the plan or under other of
our compensation plans, or. other rights to payment, from us, and may grant awards in addition to or in
tandem with such other awards or rights. In addition, the plan administrator may cancel awards granted
under the plan in exchange: for a payment of cash or other property. The terms of any exchange of, or
purchase of, an award will be determined by the plan administrator in its sole discretion.

Acceleration of Vesting; Chénge in Control

The plan administrator may, in its discretion, accelerate the vesting, exercisability, lapsing of
restrictions, or expiration of deferral of any award, including if we undergo a “change in control,” as
defined in the plan. In addition, the plan administrator may provide in an award agreement or employment
agreement that the performance goals relating to any performance-based award will be deemed to have
been met upon the occurrence of any “change in control.” The plan administrator may, in its discretion and
without the consent of the participant, either (a) accelerate the vesting of all awards in full or as to some
percentage of the award to a date prior to the effective date of the “change in control;” or (b) provide for a
cash payment in exchange for the termination of an award or any portion of an award where such cash
payment is equal to the fair market value of the shares that the participant would receive if the award were
fully vested and exercised as of such date, less any applicable exercise price. The plan administrator will
determine whether each award is assumed, continued, substituted, or terminated. In connection with a

“change in control,” we may assign to the acquiring Or successor company any repurchase rights associated
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with any awards, and the plan administrator may provide that any repurchase rights held by us associated
with such awards will lapse in whole or in part contingent upon the “change in control.”

In the event of a “corporate transaction” (as defined in the plan), the acquiror may assume or substitute
for each outstanding stock award. If the acquiror does not assume or substitute for an outstanding stock
option, such stock option will terminate immediately prior to the close of such corporate transaction to the
extent the option is not exercised.

Amendment and Termination

Our Board of Directors may amend, alter, suspend, discontinue, or terminate the plan or the plan
administrator’s authority to grant awards without further stockholder approval, except stockholder approval
must be obtained for any amendment or alteration if such approval is required by law or regulation or under
the rules of any stock exchange or quotation system on which shares of our common stock are then listed or
quoted. Stockholder approval will not be deemed to be required under laws or regulations, such as those
relating to ISOs, that condition favorable treatment of participants on such approval, although our Board of
Directors may, in its discretion, seek stockholder approval in any circumstance in which it deems such
approval advisable. Unless earlier terminated by our Board of Directors, the plan will terminate on the
earlier of (1) 10 years after its adoption by our Board of Directors or (2) such time as no shares of our
common stock remain available for issuance under the plan and we have no further rights or obligations
with respect to outstanding awards under the plan. Amendments to the plan or any award require the
consent of the affected participant if the amendment has a material adverse effect on the participant.

Federal Income Tax Consequences of Awards

The information set forth below is a summary only and does not purport to be complete. In addition, the
information is based upon current federal income tax rules and therefore is subject to change when those
rules change. Moreover, because the tax consequences to any recipient may depend on his particular
situation, each recipient should consult the recipient’s tax adviser regarding the federal, state, local, and
other tax consequences of the grant or exercise of an award or the disposition of stock acquired as a result
of an award. The plan is not qualified under the provisions of Section 401(a) of the Code and is not subject
to any of the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

Nongualified Stock Options

Generally, there is no taxation upon the grant of a nonqualified stock option. On exercise, an optionee
will recognize ordinary income equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value on the date of exercise
of the stock over the exercise price. If the optionee is our employee or an employee of an affiliate, that
income will be subject to withholding tax. The optionee’s tax basis in those shares will be equal to their fair
market value on the date of exercise of the option, and the optionee’s capital gain holding period for those
shares will begin on that date.

Subject to the requirement of reasonableness, the provisions of Section 162(m), and the satisfaction of a
tax reporting obligation, we will generally be entitled to a tax deduction equal to the taxable ordinary
income realized by the optionee.

Incentive Stock Options

The plan provides for the grant of stock options that qualify as “incentive stock options,” which we
refer to as ISOs, as defined in Section 422 of the Code. Under the Code, an optionee generally is not
subject to ordinary income tax upon the grant or exercise of an ISO. In addition, if the optionee holds a
share received on exercise of an ISO for at least two years from the date the option was granted and at least
one year from the date the option was exercised, which we refer to as the Required Holding Period, the
difference, if any, between the amount realized on a sale or other taxable disposition of that share and the
holder’s tax basis in that share will be long-term capital gain or loss.

If, however, an optionee disposes of a share acquired on exercise of an ISO before the end of the
Required Holding Period, which we refer to as a Disqualifying Disposition, the optionee generally will
recognize ordinary income in the year of the Disqualifying Disposition equal to the excess, if any, of the
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fair market value of the share on the date the ISO was exercised over the exercise price. However, if the
sales proceeds are less than the fair market value of the share on the date of exercise of the option, the
amount of ordinary income recognized by the optionee will not exceed the gain, if any, realized on the sale.
If the amount realized on a Disqualifying Disposition exceeds the fair market value of the share on the date
of exercise of the option, that excess will be short-term or long-term capital gain, depending on whether the
holding period for the share exceeds one year.

For purposes of the alternative minimum tax, thé amount by which the fair market value of a share of
stock acquired on exercise of an ISO exceeds the exercise price of that option generally will be an
adjustment included in the optionee’s alternative minimum takable income for the year in which the option
is exercised. If, however, there is a Disqualifying Disposition of the share in the year in which the option is
exercised, there will be no adjustment for alternative minimum tax purposes with respect to that share. If
there is a Disqualifying Disposition in a later year, ne income with respect to the Disqualifying Disposition
is included in the optionee’s alternative minimum taxable income for that year. In computing alternative
minimum taxable income, the tax basis of a share acquired on exercise of an ISO is increased by the
amount of the adjustment taken into account with respect to that share for alternative minimum tax
purposes in the year the option is exercised. \

We are not allowed an income tax deduction with respect to the grant or exercise of an ISO or the
disposition of a share acquired on exercise of an ISO after the Required Holding Period. However, if there
is a Disqualifying Disposition of a share, we are allowed a deduction in an amount equal to the ordinary
income includible in income by the optionee, provided that amount constitutes an ordinary and necessary
business expense for us and is reasonable in amount, and either the employee includes that amount in
income or we timely satisfy our reporting requirements with respect to that amount.

Stock Awards

Generally, the recipient of a stock award will recognize ordinary compensation income at the time the
stock is received equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the stock received over any amount
paid by the recipient in exchange for the stock. If, however, the stock is not vested when it is received (for
example, if the employee is required to work for a: period of time in order to have the right to sell the
stock), the recipient generally will not recognize income until the stock becomes vested, at which time the
recipient will recognize ordinary compensation income equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value
of the stock on the date it becomes vested over any amount paid by the recipient in exchange for the stock.
A recipient may, however, file an election with the Internal Revenue Service, within 30 days of his or her
receipt of the stock award, to recognize ordinary compensation income, as of the date the recipient receives
the award, equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the stock on the date the award is granted
over any amount paid by the recipient in exchange for the stock.

The recipient’s basis for the determination of gain or loss upon the subsequent disposition of shares
acquired as stock awards will be the amount paid for such shares plus any ordinary income recognized
either when the stock is received or when the stock becomes vested.

Subject to the requirement of reasonableness, the provisions of Section 162(m), and the satisfaction of a
tax reporting obligation, we will generally be entitled to a tax deduction equal to the taxable ordinary
income realized by the recipient of the stock award.

Stock Appreciation Rights

We may grant stock appreciation rights separate from any other award, which we refer to as stand-alone
stock appreciation rights, or in tandem with options, which we refer to as tandem stock appreciation rights,
under the plan.

With respect to stand-alone stock appreciation rights, if the recipient receives the appreciation inherent
in the stock appreciation rights in cash, the cash will be taxable as ordinary compensation income to the
recipient at the time that the cash is received. If the recipient receives the appreciation inherent in the stock
appreciation rights in shares of stock, the recipient will recognize ordinary compensation income equal to
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the excess of the fair market value of the stock on the day it is received over any amounts paid by the
recipient for the stock.

With respect to tandem stock appreciation rights, if the recipient elects to surrender the underlying
option in exchange for cash or shares of stock equal to the appreciation inherent in the underlying option,
the tax consequences to the recipient will be the same as discussed above relating to the stand-alone stock
appreciation rights. If the recipient elects to exercise the underlying option, the holder will be taxed at the
time of exercise as if he or she had exercised a nonqualified stock option (discussed above).

Subject to the requirement of reasonableness, the provisions of Section 162(m), and the satisfaction of a
tax reporting obligation, we will generally be entitled to a tax deduction equal to the taxable ordinary
income realized by the recipient of the stock appreciation right.

Dividend Equivalents

Generally, the recipient of a dividend equivalent award will recognize ordinary compensation income at
the time the dividend equivalent award is received equal to the fair market value dividend equivalent award
received. Subject to the requirement of reasonableness, the provisions of Section 162(m), and the
satisfaction of a tax reporting obligation, we will generally be entitled to a tax deduction equal to the
taxable ordinary income realized by the recipient of the dividend equivalent.

Section 162 Limitations

Section 162(m) denies a deduction to any publicly held corporation for compensation paid to certain
“covered employees” in a taxable year to the extent that compensation to such covered employee exceeds
$1 million. It is possible that compensation attributable to stock awards, when combined with all other
types of compensation received by a covered employee from us, may cause this limitation to be exceeded
in any particular year. For purposes of Section 162(m), the term “covered employee” means our Chief
Executive Officer and our four highest compensated officers as of the end of a taxable year as disclosed in
our filings with the SEC.

Certain kinds of compensation, including qualified “performance-based” compensation, are disregarded
for purposes of the Section 162(m) deduction limitation. In accordance with Treasury regulations issued
under Section 162(m), compensation attributable to certain stock awards will qualify as performance-based
compensation if the award is granted by a committee of the Board of Directors consisting solely of “outside
directors” and the stock award is granted (or exercisable) only upon the achievement (as certified in writing
by the committee) of an objective performance goal established in writing by the committee while the
outcome is substantially uncertain, and the material terms of the plan under which the award is granted is
approved by stockholders. A stock option or stock appreciation right may be considered “performance-
based” compensation as described in the previous sentence or by meeting the following requirements: the
incentive compensation plan contains a per-employee limitation on the number of shares for which stock
options and stock appreciation rights may be granted during a specified period, the material terms of the
plan are approved by the stockholders, and the exercise price of the option or right is no less than the fair
market value of the stock on the date of grant.

The regulations under Section 162(m) require that the directors who serve as members of the committee
must be “outside directors.” The plan provides that directors serving on the committee must be “outside
directors” within the meaning of Section 162(m). This limitation would exclude from the committee
directors who are (1) our current employees or those of one of our affiliates, (2) our former employees or
those of one of our affiliates who is receiving compensation for past services (other than benefits under a
tax-qualified pension plan), (3) our current and former officers or those of one of our affiliates, (4) directors
currently receiving direct or indirect remuneration from us or one of our affiliates in any capacity other than
as a director, and (5) any other person who is not otherwise considered an “outside director” for purposes of
Section 162(m). The definition of an “outside director” under Section 162(m) is generally narrower than
the definition of a “non-employee director” under Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
General :

The Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee consisting of four directors, Messrs. Hail,
Hanson, Moya, and Peelle. All of the members of the committee are “independent” of our company and
management, as independence is defined in applicable listing standards of NASDAQ and the applicable rules of
the Securities and Exchange Commission.

In accordance with its written charter adopted by the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee of the
Board assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibility for oversight of the quality and integrity of our accounting,
auditing, and financial reporting practices. A copy of the Audit Committee Charter is posted to our website at
www. inplaytechnologies.com. During fiscal 2005, the Committee met four times and discussed the interim
financial information contained in each quarterly earnings announcement and Annual Report on Form 10-KSB
with the Chief Executive. Officer/Chief Financial: Officer, Vice President, Finance and Administration and
independent registered public accountants prior to public release.

Audit Committee Philosophy and Objectives

In discharging its oversight responsibility as to the audit process, the Committee obtained from the
independent registered public accountants a formal written statement describing all relationships between the
auditors and us that might bear on the auditors’ independence consistent with Independence Standards Board
Standard No. 1, “Independence Discussions with Audit Committees,” discussed with the registered public
accountants any relationships that may impact their objectivity and independence and satisfied itself as to the
registered public accountants’ independence. The Committee also reviewed with management and the
independent registered public accountants the quality and adequacy of our internal controls. The Committee
discussed with the registered public accountants their audit plans, audit scope and identification of audit risks.

The Committee discussed and reviewed with the registered public accountants all communications
required by generally accepted auditing standards, including those described in Statement on Auditing
Standards (SAS) No. 61, “Communication With Audit Committees,” as amended by SAS 89 and SAS 90, and
Rule 2-07, “Communication with Audit Committees” of Regulation S-X, and, with management present,
discussed and reviewed the results of the registered public accountants’ examination of the financial statements.

The Committee reviewed our audited financial statements as of and for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2005, with management and the registered public accountants. Management has the responsibility for the
preparation of the financial statements and the registered public accountants have the responsibility for the
examination of those statements.

Based on the above-mentioned review :and discussions with management and the independent
registered public accountants, the Committee recommended to the Board that our audited financial statements
be included in its Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 for filing with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. The ‘Committee also recommended the reappointment of the
independent registered public accountants. The Board concurred and has submitted such recommendation to
stockholders for ratification. :

April 3, 2006
- RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

- John W, Hail, Chairman
- Steven P. Hanson

. P. Robert Moya

. William E. Peelle
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS, DIRECTORS, AND OFFICERS

The following table sets forth, as of the record date, the number and percentage of outstanding shares
of common stock beneficially owned by (a) each person known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of such
stock, (b) each of our directors, (c) each of the officers listed in the Summary Compensation Table in the
section entitled “Executive Compensation”, and (d) all our directors and executive officers as a group. The
address of each officer and director listed below is c/o InPlay Technologies, Inc., 234 S. Extension Road, Mesa,
Arizona 85210.

Unless otherwise indicated, the persons below have sole voting and investment power with respect to
the number of shares set forth opposite their names. The percentages shown are calculated based upon
11,481,512 shares of common stock outstanding on March 27, 2006. The numbers and percentages shown
include the shares of common stock actually owned as of March 27, 2006 and the shares of common stock that
the identified person or group had the right to acquire within 60 days of such date. In calculating the percentage
of ownership, all shares of common stock that the identified person or group had the right to acquire within 60
days of March 27, 2006, upon the exercise of options are deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of
computing the percentage of the shares of common stock owned by such person or group, but are not deemed to
be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage of the shares of common stock owned by any other
person.

Name of Beneficial Owner Number of Shares (1) Percentage

Directors and Executive Officers:

Anthony J. Van Zeeland .........ccocvevevcnvvneinennennennen, - 943,199 8.2%
Robert J. Brilon......ccccoiiiiieiciieeneec e 573,497  (2) 4.8%
John W. Hail ..o, 80,625 (3) *
William E. Peelle ..ot 75,864  (4) *
Michael A. Van Zeeland............coovevererveceincvecneneeniennn, 75,589 (4) *
Steven P. Hanson .......ccovcevereievencniien e 30,000 (5) *

P. ROBEIt MOYa..ccoereiiiiririirceseccrerecne e s 20,000 (6) *
All directors and officers as a group (seven persons) 1,798,774 14.6%
5% Stockholders:

Delphi COrp. .oocereirinninreserenereee et 1,651,846 (7) 14.4%
J. Patterson McBaine .........cooceieeeninecninneieisseneeens 1,008,550 (&) (11) 8.8%
Jon D GIUDET ..ottt 1,006,150  (9)(11) 8.7%
ZeKE LP. oot 945,750  (10) 8.1%
Gruber & McBaine Capital Management...........c......... 898,100 (11) 7.8%
Potomac Capital Management ........c.cococceececeniannnenennn, 841,537 (12) 7.3%

AIGH Investment Partners LLC .......ccooeeririvirvevennenn, 680,106 (13) 5.9%

* Less than 1.0%

) Except as otherwise indicated, each person named in the table has sole voting and investment power with respect
to all shares of common stock beneficially owned by him or her, subject to applicable community property law.

2) Includes 573,471 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.

3 Includes 3,742 shares owned by TVC, Inc., of which John W. Hail is the majority shareholder and 65,000 shares
of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.

(€)) Includes 65,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
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Includes 25,000 shares of common stock issuable ﬁpon exercise of stock options,
Includes 20,000 shares of common stock issuable;upon exercise of stock options.

Information is given'in reliance upon information set forth in the named stockholder’s Schedule 13D dated
June 23, 2000, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The principal business office of Delphi
Corporation is located at 5725 Delphi Drive, Troy, Michigan 48098. We and certain of our stockholders have
entered into a stockholders’ agreement with Delphi Corp., pursuant to which Delphi has the option to designate
one member of our Board of Directors. Delphi’s 'designee resigned from our Board of Directors during 2003 and
Delphi has not designated a new director to fill that vacancy. On or about May 2003, Delphi notified us that our
Board of Directors had the right to appoint an independent director in place of Delphi’s designee. In addition, we
were a party to a license agreement with Delphi that was terminated during fiscal 2005 and is described under
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.”

Includes (&) 417,972 shares of common stock and 18,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of
warrants held by Lagunitas Partners LP; (b) 124,500 shares of common stock, 6,000 shares of common stock
issuable upon exercise of warrants held by Gruber & McBaine International; (c) 331,628 shares of common stock
under management of Gruber & McBaine Capital Management; (d) 98,900 shares of common stock and 2,550
shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants held by J. Patterson McBaine; and (e) 9,000 shares of
common stock held by family accounts. /

Includes (a) 417,972 shares of common stock and 18,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of
warrants held by Lagunitas Partners LP; (b) 124,500 shares of common stock, 6,000 shares of common stock
issuable upon exercise of warrants held by Gruber & McBaine International; (c) 331,628 shares of common stock
under management of Gruber & McBaine Capital Management; (d) 75,400 shares of common stock and 2,550
shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants held by Jon D. and Linda W. Gruber Trust; and (e)
30,100 shares of common stock held by family accounts. Jon D. Gruber is the trustee of the Jon D. and Linda W.
Gruber Trust and retains voting and dispositive power over the shares held by the trust.

Includes 218,250 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants. The principal business office of
Zeke L.P. is located at 1235 Westlake Drive, Berwyn, Pennsylvania 19312.

Includes (a) 417,972 shares of common stock and 18,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of
warrants held by Lagunitas Partners LP; (b) 124,500 shares of common stock, 6,000 shares of common stock
issuable upon exercise of warrants held by Gruber & McBaine International; and (c) 331,628 shares of common
stock under management of Gruber & McBaine Capital Management. Jon D. Gruber and J. Patterson McBaine
serve as the managing members of Gruber & McBaine Capital Management (‘GMCM?”), and retain voting and
dispositive power over such shares under the control of GMCM. GMCM serves as the general partner of Lagunitas

~ Partners LP and as the investment advisor for Gruber & McBaine International. The principal business office of

Gruber & McBaine Capital Management is located at 50 Osgood Place, San Francisco, California 94133,

Includes (a) 328,037 shares of common stock and 35,400 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of
warrants held by Potomac Capital Partners, LP; (b) 208,700 shares of common stock and 22,500 shares of
common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants held by Potomac Capital International, Ltd.; and
(€) 222,900 shares of common stock and 24,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants held
by Pleiades Investment Partners-R, L.P. The principal business office of Potomac Capital Management is located
at 825 Third Avenue, 33 Floor, New York, New York 10022. ‘

Represents 680,106 shares of common stock héld by AIGH Investment Partners, LLC. Orin Hirschman is the
managing member of AIGH, and AIGH has sole voting and dispositive power over such shares. Information is
based on a Schedule 13G/A dated February 15, 2006. The principal business office of AIGH is located at
6006 Berkeley Ave., Baltimore, Maryland 21209,

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our officers and directors and persons who beneficially

own more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities to file reports of ownership and changes in
ownership with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Officers, directors, and greater than 10%
stockholders are required by Exchange Act regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they

file.
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Based solely on the review of the copies of such forms received by us, or written representations from
certain reporting persons that no forms were required for such persons, we believe that during the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, our officers, directors, and greater than 10% beneficial owners have complied with
all filing requirements applicable to them.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

In April 2000, we entered into a license agreement with Delphi that gave Delphi the exclusive right to
utilize and manufacture our patented switch technologies for the automotive industry. In connection with the
license agreement, we also issued to Delphi warrants to purchase 225,000 shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of $7.00 per share, which expired in April 2004, and a short-term option to purchase 1,651,846
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $7.00 per share. In exchange, Delphi paid us a non-refundable
payment of $4.0 million and agreed to pay a royalty fee for each switch sold by Delphi. The initial term of the
exclusive license agreement was seven years. During October 2005, in connection with Delphi’s bankruptcy,
the license agreement was terminated. The agreement required Delphi to make minimum royalty payments
totaling $12.0 million during the initial seven-year term of the agreement ending June 30, 2007. The first $1
million minimum royalty payment was received in July 2004 and the second $2 million minimum royalty
payment was received in July 2005,
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PROPOSAL NO. 2 - RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

We have appointed Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accountants to audit
our consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2006, and recommend that the
stockholders vote in favor of the ratification of such appointment. In the event of a negative vote on such
ratification, the Board of Directors will reconsider its selection. The Board of Directors anticipates that
representatives of Deloitte & Touche, LLP will attend the meeting, will be afforded an opportunity to make a
statement if they so desire, and will be available to respond to appropriate questions.

. Deloitte & Touche LLP has advised us that neither the firm, nor any member of the firm has any
financial interest, direct or indirect, in any capacity injour company.

Aggregate fees billed to our company for tHe fiscal years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 by our
principal accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, are as follows:

2005 2004
AUIE FEES «..vvvovevveeesrees e sesss s $ 95,200 $ 73,500
Audit-Related FEes.....c..oivviiiiiiiiiiiceeereccr et vense et vrens 34,075 3,150
TAX FlES oottt ittt r e ee s e ees vt baeese s e s anaaereeaenes 18,938 16,366
AlLOther FEES ....ovvioiiriiiniiiiine b 225 565

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies

The charter of our Audit Committee provides that the duties and responsibilities of our Audit
Committee include the pre-approval of all audit, audit related, tax, and other services permitted by law or
applicable SEC regulations (including fee and cost ranges) to be performed by our independent registered
public accountant. Any pre-approved services that wi'll involve fees or costs exceeding pre-approved levels will
also require specific pre-approval by the Audit Committee. Unless otherwise specified by the Audit Committee
in pre-approving a service, the pre-approval will be effective for the 12-month period following pre-approval.
The Audit Committee will not approve any non-audit services prohibited by applicable SEC regulations or any
services in connection with a transaction initially recommended by the independent registered public
accountants, the purpose of which may be tax avoidance and the tax treatment of which may not be supported
by the Internal Revenue Code and related regulations.

To the extent deemed appropriate, the Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to the
Chairman of the Committee or any one or more other members of the Audit Committee provided that any
member of the Audit Committee who has exercised. any such delegation must report any such pre-approval
decision to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting. The Audit Committee will not delegate the pre-
approval of services to be performed by the independent registered public accountants to management.

Our Audit Committee requires that our independent registered public accountant, in conjunction with
our Chief Financial Officer, be responsible for seeking pre-approval for providing services to us and that any
request for pre-approval must inform the Audit Committee about each service to be provided and must provide
detail as to the particular service to be provided.

All of the services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP described above under the captions “Audit-
Related Fees,” “Tax Fees,” and “All Other Fees” were approved by our Audit Committee pursuant to our Audit

Committee’s pre-approval policies.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR Proposal No. 2.
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DEADLINE FOR RECEIPT OF STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

Stockholder proposals intended to be presented at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders must be
received on or before December 8, 2006, in order for the proposals to be eligible for inclusion in our proxy
statement and proxy relating to the meeting. Additionally, if a stockholder wishes to present to us an item for
consideration as an agenda item for a meeting without inclusion in the proxy statement, the stockholder must
give timely notice to us and give a brief description of the business desired to be discussed. To be timely for the
2007 Annual Meeting, our bylaws require that such notice must have been delivered to or mailed to and
received by us no less than 60 and no more than 90 days prior to the 2006 Annual Meeting. If we do not
publicly announce our meeting date or give notice of our meeting date at least 70 days before our 2007 Annual
Meeting, stockholders may submit items for consideration as agenda items until 5:00 p.m. on the 15" day after
the public disclosure or notice. These proposals should be sent to our Corporate Secretary by fax 480.586.3378
or by mail to Corporate Secretary, InPlay Technologies, Inc., 234 S. Extension Road, Mesa, Arizona 85210,

Such proposals may be included in next year’s proxy statement if they comply with certain rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the procedures set forth in our bylaws.

Pursuant to Rule 14a-4 under the Exchange Act, we intend to retain discretionary authority to vote
proxies with respect to stockholder proposals for which the proponent does not seek inclusion of the proposed
matter in our proxy statement for the annual meeting to be held during calendar 2007, except in circumstances

where we receive notice of the proposed matter no later than February 23, 2007, and the proponent complies
with the other requirements set forth in Rule 14a-4.

OTHER MATTERS
We do not know of any other items that will be presented for consideration at the meeting. If any other
matters properly come before the meeting, the persons named as proxies in the accompanying proxy, or their

substitutes, intend to vote the shares they represent as the Board of Directors may recommend.

Dated: April 10, 2006
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Headquarters
234 South Extension
Mesa, AZ 85210
USA

Tel (480) 586-3300
Fox (480) 844-9625

www.inplaytechnologies.com

Board of Directors
Steven Hanson, Chairman
Bob Brilon

John Hail

Robert Moya

Bill Peelle

Tony Van Zeeland
Michael Van Zeeland

Management

Bob Brilon, CEO, President and CFO

Tony Van Zeeland, Chief Technoiogy Officer -
Stephen Caldwell, Pre5|den’r FinePoint Innovohons
Van Potter, COO, FinePoint Innovohons

Heofher Beshears, VP Corporo’re Commumcohons
Tim Kuhn, VP Business Development

Deborah Moore, VP Finance and:Administration |

Common Stock
Listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market
Stock Symbol NPLA

Transfer Agent and Registrar

For information about address changes, consolidation ,

of accounts and lost stock certificates, contact:
Computershare Trust Company

PO. Box 1596

Denver, CO 80201

(303) 262-0600

www.computershare.com

Independent Registered Public Accountants
Deloitte & Touche LLP

2901 North Central Avenue, Suite 1200

Phoenix, AZ 85012-2799

(602) 234-5100

Corporate Counsel

Greenberg Traurig, LLP

2375 East Camelback Road, Suite 700
Phoenix, AZ 85016

(602) 445-8000

Investor Relations:
For investor information or any questions, contact:
Heather Beshears

_ Vice President, Corporate Communications
~ InPlay Technologies

- 234 South Extension

“ Mesa, AZ 85210

- (480) 586-3357

- heather@inplaytechnologies.com

SEC Filings and Investor Information:
InPlay Technologies makes its SEC filings available on

- the Web site, including annual reports on Form

10-KSB, quarterly reports on Form 10-QSB, current
reports on Form 8-K, Section 16 reports and other
filings, as soon as reasonably practicable after filing
with, or furnishing to the Securities and Exchange

Commission.

To request a complete copy of the Form 10-KSB, or
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InPlay Technologies, 234 South Extension, Mesa, AZ
85210, via phone at (480) 586-3300, or access the
Company's Web site www.inplaytechnologies.com to
download information or be added to our mailing list.
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